9 October 2019
At 5.00 pm

Local Planning Panel

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Agenda

1.

Disclosures of Interest

2.

Confirmation of Minutes

3.

Development Application: 932-934 Bourke Street, Zetland - D/2018/1138

Guidelines for Speakers
at Local Planning Panels

As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to
speak directly to Members of the Local Planning Panel (LPP) about items on a
meeting agenda.
To enable the LPP to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited time
available, we encourage people interested in speaking at meetings to:
1.

Register to speak by calling Council’s Secretariat on 9265 9310 before 12.00
noon on the day of the meeting.

2.

Check the recommendation in the agenda report before speaking, as it may
address your concerns so that you just need to indicate your support for the
recommendation.

3.

Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker and prepare your
presentation to cover your major points within that time.

4.

Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and
information that the LPP may not already know.

5.

If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to
nominate three representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how
many people they are representing.

6.

Before speaking, turn on the microphone by pressing the button next to it and
speak clearly so that everyone in the Council Chamber can hear.

7.

Be prepared to quickly return to the microphone and respond briefly to any
questions from LPP members, after all speakers on an item have made their
presentations.

At the start of each LPP meeting, the Chair may re-order agenda items so that those
items with speakers can be dealt with first.
LPP reports are on line at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au, with printed copies
available at Sydney Town Hall immediately prior to the meeting. Council staff are
also available prior to the meeting to assist.

March 2018

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Item 1.
Disclosures of Interest
Pursuant to the provisions of Clause 15 of Schedule 4B of the Environmental Planning and
Assessment Act 1979, members of the Local Planning Panel are required to disclose
pecuniary interests in any matter on the agenda for this meeting of the Local Planning Panel.
Panel members are also required to disclose any non-pecuniary interests in any matter on
the agenda for this meeting of the Local Planning Panel.
In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed.
In accordance with section 4.9 of the Code of Conduct for Local Planning Panel Members,
all Panel members are required to sign a declaration of interest in relation to each matter on
the agenda.

1

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Item 2.
Confirmation of Minutes
Minutes of the following meeting of the Local Planning Panel, which have been endorsed by
the Chair, are submitted for noting:
Meeting of 18 September 2019

1

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Item 3.
Development Application: 932-934 Bourke Street, Zetland
File No.:

D/2018/1138

Summary
Date of Submission:

21 September 2018
Amended plans and additional information submitted on 1
February 2019, 7 February 2019, 24 April 2019, and 9
August 2019.

Applicant:

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils

Designer:

Planshop

Owner:

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils

Zoning:

B4 Mixed Use zone. The proposed works are associated
with the existing 'place of public worship' use, which is
permissible with consent in the B4 Mixed Use zone.

Proposal Summary:

The application proposes the extension of the hours of
operation to the existing place of public worship from
9.00am – 5.00pm, Monday to Friday to 6.00am – 10.00pm,
7 days a week. The application also seeks consent for
alterations and additions including enclosing an existing
covered rear car parking area on the corner of Elizabeth
Street and Navins Lane, and changing its use to a prayer
hall.
Additional information has been submitted over the course
of this assessment up until 9 August 2019. This has been
in response to concerns raised by Council officers,
including amendments to architectural plans, the Acoustic
Report, Traffic Reports and Plan of Management.
The application is referred to the Local Planning Panel for
determination as more than 25 unique submissions were
received during the exhibition periods.
The application was originally advertised and notified for a
period of 21 days between 15 October 2018 and 6
November 2018. A total of 61 submissions were received
objecting to the proposed development.

1

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

The application was re-notified and re-advertised for a
period of 21 days between 9 May 2019 and 31 May 2019,
as the application was amended to include physical works
(the enclosure of the existing car parking area for use as a
new prayer hall) to address potential noise impacts. A total
of 45 objections and 1 submission of support were
received during this notification period.
As result of the two notification periods, a total of 106
objections were received, from 69 individuals. The
submissions raised concerns with regard to noise,
operating hours, traffic and parking.
The proposal has been amended to include the enclosure
of the car park to create a new prayer hall, and additional
information including an amended Plan of Management,
Acoustic Assessment and Traffic and Parking Report, has
been submitted to address concerns from the proposal that
was originally notified.
The amended proposal has been reviewed by Council's
Environmental Heath and Transport Units, and Heritage
and Urban Design Specialists, with relevant issues
addressed by ways of conditions of consent or during the
assessment.
Subject to recommended conditions, the amended
proposal is considered to be acceptable with regard to
noise and traffic.
Summary Recommendation:

The development application is recommended for
approval, subject to conditions.

Development Controls:

(i)

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979

(ii)

State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure)
2007

(iii)

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Gazetted 12
December 2012, as amended)

(iv)

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (in force on
12 December 2012, as amended)

(v)

Green Square Affordable Housing Program

A.

Recommended Conditions of Consent

B.

Selected Drawings

C.

Amended Plan of Management

Attachments:

2

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Recommendation
It is resolved that consent be granted for Development Application No. D/2018/1138 subject
to conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report.

Reasons for Recommendation
The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons:
(A)

The proposed development is consistent with Section 4.15 of the Environmental
Planning and Assessment Act 1979, in that it achieves the objectives of the planning
provisions for the site and does not result in any unreasonable environmental impacts
for the reasons outlined in the report.

(B)

The development is consistent with the objectives of B4 Mixed Use zone pursuant to
the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, in that in will regularise and appropriately
manage the existing place of public worship, and therefore will maintain a use that
supports the viability of the centre and will encourage public transport use, walking and
cycling.

(C)

The development is generally consistent with the objectives and controls that apply to
the site under the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and the Sydney
Development Control Plan 2012.

(D)

For the reasons above and as outlined in this report, the proposed development is in
the public interest, subject to conditions.

3

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Background
The Site and Surrounding Development
1.

A site visit was carried out by staff on 8 March 2019.

2.

The subject site is known as Nos. 932-934 Bourke Street, Zetland. It contains one
allotment, legally described as Lot 1 DP 74133.

3.

The site is square in shape with an area of approximately 915 square metres. It has a
primary frontage of 30.2m to Bourke Street, with a secondary street frontage of 30.3m
to Elizabeth Street. The site has rear lane access from Navins Lane.

4.

The site currently contains a two-storey building, which is used for a 'place of public
worship' and associated activities. Vehicular access to the site is currently from both
Elizabeth Street to an undercover car parking area/outdoor prayer area in the southwestern portion of the site, and from Navins Lane to the open car park located in the
north-eastern side of the site.

5.

Surrounding land uses are a mix of commercial and residential:


Directly to the south-west, east and south-east of the site are residential
dwellings along Elizabeth Street, Bourke Street, Navins Lane and McPherson
Lane. The closest residential properties are at 930 Elizabeth Street, which
adjoins the site along its north-eastern boundary, and 876 Elizabeth Street and 1
McPherson Lane, which are located approximately 6m to the south and southeast across Navins Lane. The housing typology of the area is predominately two
storey terrace dwellings with rear access car parking where available.



The land directly to the north-east is currently used for residential uses and is
located within the B4 – Mixed Use zone.



To the north, on the opposite side of Bourke Street, is a car dealership (motor
vehicle showroom).



To the north-west, sites are used for a range of small commercial uses.



To the south-west, on the opposite side of Elizabeth Street, is a pub known as
the ‘Zetland Hotel’.

6.

The subject site is a heritage item of local significance (Item number I2202 – Former
fire station, including interior) and is also located within the Zetland Estate Heritage
Conservation Area (C73).

7.

The site is located approximately 400 metres from the Green Square Town Centre.

4

Local Planning Panel

8.

9 October 2019

Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below:

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area.

Site

Figure 2: Site viewed from Bourke Street facing south-west.

5

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Figure 3: View of the existing building and car park on site, looking southwest along Bourke Street
towards the Green Square Town Centre.

Figure 4: View of existing carpark area located along the north-eastern portion of the site, as viewed
from Bourke Street.

6

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Figure 5: Site viewed from Elizabeth Street facing north.

Figure 6: The existing covered car parking/proposed prayer area at south-west portion of the site, as
viewed from Navins Lane.

7

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Site

Figure 7: Site viewed from Navins Lane facing west.

Site

Figure 8: Site viewed from Navins Lane, with residential dwellings located on both sides of Navins
Lane.

8

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

History Relevant to the Development Application
9.

Council's records indicate that the site has been in the ownership of the Australian
Federation of Islamic Council (AFIC) and has been in use as a place for 'religious
instruction' since 1987.

10.

The following applications are of relevance to the subject application:
(a)

DU/44/87/0189 - On 20 February 1987, consent was granted for "use the
existing facilities as a church for religious instruction and the promotion of
the Muslim faith, and associated offices". Condition 9 of this consent
restricted the hours of operation to between 9:00am to 5:00pm, Monday to
Friday. This consent was limited to a period of 2 years.

(b)

DU/1990/27 - On 12 January 1990, consent was granted "to use existing
buildings as a church for religious instruction, and associated offices" with
the hours of Monday to Friday 9:00am to 5:00pm imposed under Condition
1.

(c)

D/2008/616 - On 26 May 2008, consent was granted for the construction of
a permanent awning over the western car parking area. This consent
included a condition stating that the use of this area for anything other than
car parking will require separate consent.

(d)

Compliance history - A review of Council’s files notes that the site has a
compliance history dating back to 2008, with concerns raised regarding the
use of the courtyard for prayers, illegal parking, the noise generated from
the site and operation outside their approved hours.
There have been several compliance investigations that have resulted in
the issuing of warning letters (under HBC/2016/14 and HBC/2017/74)
regarding the use of the courtyard for prayers. In order to address this
compliance issue, it was recommended that development consent be
sought to regularise the unauthorised use of this courtyard and the hours
of operation of the place of public worship.

(e)

DU/1990/27/A - On 27 June 2017, Section 4.55 application DU/1990/27/A
was lodged seeking to modify the approved hours of the place of public
worship to 5:00am to 9:00pm, Monday to Sunday.
This application was notified and advertised for 21 days, with 139
submissions received during this notification period.
During the assessment of this application Council requested more detailed
floor plans, a Traffic and Parking Impact Study, an Acoustic Report, and a
Plan of Management.
During the assessment of the application, the applicant requested to
amend their application to further extend the hours of use to 10:00pm.
As a result of the need to prepare further documentation, the applicant
subsequently withdrew their application on 17 October 2017. It was the
intention that a new application would be lodged once all required
information had been prepared.

9

Local Planning Panel

(f)

9 October 2019

DU/1990/27/B - On 18 October 2017, a Section 4.55 application
DU/1990/27/B was lodged seeking consent to modify the approved hours
of use of the place of public worship to 5.00am to 10.00pm, Monday to
Sunday.
This application was notified and advertised for 38 days with 116 unique
submissions received during this notification period.
On 14 February 2018, the modification application was refused for the
following reasons:



It was not considered to be 'substantially the same' as the development for
which consent was originally granted, with regard to the use of the western
car park as a place of public worship.



Although a change of use was not sought with the application, Council
considered that the submitted floor plans and site observations indicated
that the proposal was reliant on the use of the approved car parking area
for prayers. The use of this area increases the capacity of the premises
from that originally approved, and also reduces the availability of on-site
car parking associated with the use.



As such, Council considered that it not to be orderly development to
consider an increase to operating hours when the overall operation and
capacity of the premises is not adequately covered by the existing consent.



Inadequate documentation was submitted as part of the application to
permit an adequate assessment of the potential impacts of the proposal,
with regard to noise and traffic.



For the above reasons, Council indicated that a new DA was required for
the proposal. As a result, the subject development application has been
lodged.

Proposal
11.

The subject development application (as amended) seeks consent for:
(a)

regularisation of the use of a covered courtyard area previously approved for car
parking (to the southwest of the existing building) as an extension to the prayer
hall;

(b)

alterations and additions to the premises to enclose the existing covered
courtyard, including new walls and glazing along the southern and western
elevations. This will create a new enclosed prayer hall; and

(c)

extension of the hours of use of the existing place of public worship from the
currently approved 9.00am – 5.00pm, Monday to Friday to 6.00am – 10.00pm, 7
days a week. This will accommodate the following prayer times and number of
worshippers:

10

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Prayer name

Commencement Conclusion

No. of
worshippers

Occurrence

Fajr

6.00am

7.30am

5-20

Everyday

Dhuhr

11.30am

1.00pm

5-20

Everyday

Jumaa

1.15pm

1.50pm

100-150

Every Friday
(replaces
Dhuhr)

Asr

3.00pm

4.00pm

5-20

Everyday

Maghreb

6.30pm

7.30pm

5-20

Everyday

Ishaa

6.45pm

9.00pm

5-20

Everyday

Taraweeh

9.00pm

10.00pm

100-150

Every day
during the
month of
Ramadan

Eid Al Fitr

7.30am

8.30am

100-150

One day after
the month of
Ramadan

Eid Al Adha

7.30am

8.00am

100-150

One day that
occurs two
months and
ten days after
Eid Al Fitr

11

Local Planning Panel

12.

9 October 2019

Plans of the proposed development are provided below.

Figure 9: Proposed ground floor plan

Figure 10: Proposed south elevation

12

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Figure 11: Proposed west elevation

History of the Subject Development Application
13.

The subject application was lodged on 21 September 2018.

14.

On 13 December 2018, Council issued a letter requesting that additional information
be submitted in order to complete the assessment, as follows:


An amended Acoustic Report was required as the assessment was based
on the prayer hall being an enclosed structure, not an open structure as
per the original proposal. The amended report was required to reflect noise
level predictions with the use of the courtyard in its existing open form, as
well as represent the accurate size of attendance for each prayer and
potential noise breakout from the use of amplified equipment. It was
suggested that robust noise control measures were required to address
any potential significant exceedances of the relevant acoustic criteria.



Detailed amended architectural drawings, if the outcome of the revised
Acoustic Report was that physical noise attenuation works were required
for the proposed prayer hall to meet prescribed noise levels.



A Plan of Management (POM) was required to address the management of
noise, traffic and parking, particularly during the larger occasions including
Eid, Taraweeh, Friday Jumma prayers. The POM was to also include a
communication and distribution strategy, and all behavioural and
management recommendations made in the amended Acoustic Report.



As the proposal involves an intensification of the existing use, it was
required that bicycle car parking spaces be provided within parking plan,
and a revised Traffic Report to address the service vehicle parking
requirements of the site.



A Transport Access Guide (TAG) including information on drop-off/pick-up
locations, taxi zones, public transport options, pedestrian access, bicycle
and cycleway networks etc., for worshippers.

13

Local Planning Panel

15.

9 October 2019

On 1 February and 7 February 2019, in response, the applicant submitted the following
additional information:


Plans showing the enclosure of the parking area for a prayer hall.



An Addendum to the original Noise, Traffic and Parking Management Plan,
which provided more information on communication and distribution
strategies and service vehicle requirements. It is noted that the applicant
advised that an amended Acoustic Report was not necessary as the
proposal had been amended to enclose the parking area.



A Transport Access Guide (TAG).

16.

As a result of the application being amended to include physical works to address
potential noise impacts, the application was re-notified and re-advertised for a period
of 21 days between 9 May 2019 and 31 May 2019.

17.

On 27 March 2019, Council advised that the additional information submitted had not
adequately addressed matters raised in Council's original correspondence, dated
December 2018, as follows:


The amended Acoustic Report made an assessment based on the new
prayer hall being an enclosed structure with double brick masonry walls,
however the amended plans submitted showed that the structure will
comprise prefabricated wall/door/window panels.
It was requested that a revised Acoustic Report be provided with
predictions of noise impact based upon the predicted attenuation of the
proposed structure as shown in the submitted drawings, as well as include
more robust noise control measures and provide an assessment against
the accurate size of attendance for each different prayer.

18.



A revised and comprehensive Plan of Management (POM) was required to
reflect all updated recommendations contained within the revised Acoustic
Report and Traffic Report.



The submitted car parking layout did not meet Australian Standards, and
concern was raised regarding the use of the north-eastern car park for
drop off and pick up areas as identified within the submitted Addendum to
the original Noise, Traffic and Parking Management Plan and not
addressed in the Traffic Report.



The submitted Transport Access Guide (TAG) was considered to be
insufficient.

On 24 April 2019, the applicant provided the following additional information:


Amended plans.



A POM containing a revised Acoustic Assessment and Traffic and Parking
Report.



A revised TAG with a Transport Access Map.

14

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

19.

On 10 July 2019, Council advised that insufficient documentation has been submitted
as part of the application to permit an adequate assessment of the potential noise
impacts of the proposal, with amendments to the acoustic report and more robust
noise control measures for the proposal required. Further clarification was provided
during a telephone conference on 16 July 2019 and with written correspondence on 17
July 2019.

20.

On 9 August 2019, the Applicant submitted an amended Acoustic Assessment and
Plan of Management.

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts
21.

The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters:
(a)

Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs.

State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007
The provisions of SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 have been considered in the assessment of
the development application.
Clause 101 - Development with a frontage to a classified road
22.

The application was referred to NSW Roads Maritime and Services (RMS) for
comment on 15 October 2018 on the assumption that this section of Bourke Street
was a classified road. To date, no response has been received from the RMS and it
has been clarified that this section of Bourke Street is not a State classified road.

23.

Notwithstanding that the site is not a State classified road, it is a regional road, and as
such, consideration has been given to the provisions of Clause 101 of the SEPP.

24.

Pursuant to Clause 101, the consent authority must not grant consent to development
on land that has a frontage to a classified road unless it is satisfied that:

25.

(a)

safe vehicle access is provided (other than from the classified road);

(b)

the development will not affect the safety, efficiency and ongoing operation of the
classified road; and

(c)

the development is not of a type that is sensitive to traffic noise or vehicle
emissions, and has been appropriately designed to ameliorate any such issues.

The proposed development is considered to be satisfactory when considered against
these objectives, noting that the use will not adversely affect the safety, efficiency and
ongoing operation of Bourke Street. The premises will utilise Navins Lane as an entry
point to the existing car park, and exit in a forward direction only with egress to Bourke
Street.

15

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Clause 104 - Traffic generating development
26.

The application is not subject to Clause 104 of the SEPP, as it is not identified as
traffic generating development because it will not result in an additional 200 or more
motor vehicles per hour on site.

Sydney LEP 2012
27.

The site is located within the B4 Mixed Use zone. The proposed use is defined as
'place of public worship', which is permissible in the zone.

28.

Subject to conditions, the proposed development is considered to be consistent with
the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone in that:

29.

(a)

it will regularise and appropriately manage the existing place of public worship;

(b)

it will maintain a use that supports the viability of the centre; and

(c)

it will encourage public transport use, walking and cycling.

The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012
for the proposed development are outlined below.

Compliance Tables
Development Control

Compliance

Comment

4.3 Height of Buildings

Yes

A maximum height of 9m is permitted.
There is no change to the existing maximum
building height proposed, with the new
partition walls, doors and windows located
beneath the existing covered carpark roof.
A maximum height for new structures is
approximately 3m, which complies with
Clause 4.3.

4.4 Floor Space Ratio
6.14 Community
infrastructure floor space
at Green Square

Yes

The site has a base FSR of 1.5:1 permitted.
An additional FSR of 0.5:1 is also permitted,
subject to the community infrastructure floor
space in Green Square provisions pursuant
to Clause 6.14.
The proposed development will result in the
creation of an additional 155sqm of GFA with
the enclosure and use of the existing car
parking area for a new prayer hall.
This will increase the total GFA of the
building to approximately 776sqm. This
equates to a FSR of 0.85:1. The site is
compliant with the base FSR development
standard for the site.

16

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Development Control

Compliance

Comment

5.10 Heritage
conservation

Yes

The site is a heritage item of local
significance - No. 'I12202', a former fire
station including interiors. The site is also
located in the Zetland Estate heritage
conservation area.
Council's Heritage Specialist has reviewed
the proposal and raises no objection to the
proposed works. It is considered that the
bulk of the addition is located behind a high
fence and therefore not readily visible from
the street, and the proposed works to
enclose an existing structure are reversible
and will have no impact to the original fabric
of the building.
Therefore, the proposal is not considered to
result in adverse impact on the significance
of the heritage item nor character of the
conservation area.

Part 6 Local Provisions Height and Floor Space

Compliance

Comment

6.21 Design excellence

Yes

As the proposal involves external alterations
and additions to an existing building, the
design excellence provisions of this clause
apply.
Pursuant to the provisions of clause 6.21(3)
of the Sydney LEP 2012, development
consent must not be granted to development
unless the consent authority is satisfied that
the proposal exhibits design excellence.
The proposed building works are minor and
will not significantly alter the appearance of
the site nor will it impact upon the heritage
fabric of the existing building. Subject to the
imposition of appropriate conditions, the
proposed development will not result in
adverse environmental impacts to
surrounding development.

7.9 Car Parking - Other
land uses

Yes

The maximum number of car parking spaces
for a building used for the purposes of a
place of public worship is 1 space for every
10 seats or 1 space for every 30sqm of GFA.

17

Local Planning Panel

Part 6 Local Provisions Height and Floor Space

9 October 2019

Compliance

Comment

This equates to a maximum of 26 parking
spaces permitted on site.
The proposal provides for 11 car parking
spaces, which complies with the maximum
permissible under the Sydney LEP 2012.
7.13 Contribution for
purpose of affordable
housing

As the proposed development results in the
creation of an additional 155sqm of GFA, it is
subject to an affordable housing contribution.
It is noted that a place of public worship is
not identified as a form of excluded
development under clause 7.13(6) of the
Sydney LEP 2012.
It is noted that community facilities are a
form of excluded development for the
purposes of affordable housing contributions.
However, the Sydney LEP 2012 dictionary
definition of a community facility specifically
states that it does not include a place of
public worship.
As such, with the proposal increasing the
Total Floor Area (TFA) by 156sqm, an
affordable housing contribution of
$12,155.52 is therefore required (current
contribution rate for non-residential is $77.92
per sqm of the total non-residential floor
area). An appropriate condition of consent is
proposed requiring the contribution to be
paid prior to the issue of a construction
certificate.

7.15 Flood planning

Yes

The site is not identified as being flood
affected.

Sydney DCP 2012
30.

The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
for the proposed development are outlined below.

2. Locality Statements – Mary O'Brien Park
The subject site is located in the Mary O'Brien Park locality.

18

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

2. Locality Statements – Mary O'Brien Park
The Character Statement for this locality makes reference to the character of the area
being influenced by the existing residential neighbourhood. The application has been
amended to ensure that the proposed development will not result in adverse impacts on
surrounding residential properties, as discussed further in the Issues Section below.
The proposal also responds to the heritage building and conservation area, with a ground
floor addition that does not impact upon the original fabric of the building and is not
dominant when viewed from the street.

3. General Provisions

Compliance

Comment

3.9 Heritage

Yes

As discussed above, the proposed
development will not adversely impact
on the significance of the heritage item
or the conservation area.

3.11 Transport and Parking

Yes

The proposal has been amended during
the course of the assessment to ensure
that it generally complies with the
relevant provisions of Section 3.11 of the
Sydney DCP 2012 relating to transport
and parking. Please refer to the Issues
Section for detailed discussion.

3.11.1 Managing transport
demand
3.11.3 Bike parking and
associated facilities
3.11.7 Motorbike parking

With regard to vehicle parking, the
proposal provides for 11 car parking
spaces, which complies with the
maximum permissible parking under the
Sydney LEP 2012.

3.11.14 Parking area design

Regarding accessible parking, 1
accessible space is provided which is in
accordance with the requirements of
Sections 3.11.9 and 7.8.5 of the Sydney
DCP 2012, with 1 accessible space per
20 parking spaces required.
With regard to bicycle parking, Section
3.11.3 requires that for places of public
worship, 1 bicycle space is required for
every 15 seats. With a maximum of 150
worshippers, 10 bicycle spaces are
required. The proposed development
includes 10 bicycle parking spaces and
these are provided in the north-eastern
car parking area.
Section 7.8.4 of the Sydney DCP 2012
also requires that in all buildings that
provide onsite parking, 1 motorcycle

19

Local Planning Panel

3. General Provisions

9 October 2019

Compliance

Comment
parking space for every 12 car parking
spaces is to be provided. As the
proposal contains 11 car parking spaces
only, no motorcycle parking is required.

3.12 Accessible design

Yes

A condition is recommended to be
included in the consent, to ensure that
the proposed addition is designed and
constructed to provide access and
facilities for people with a disability in
accordance with the Building Code of
Australia.

3.14 Waste

Yes

A condition has been recommended for
the construction and operation of the
proposed development to comply with
the relevant provisions of the City of
Sydney Code for Guidelines for Waste
Management in New Developments.

3.15 Late Night Trading

Yes

Although the proposed development is
not a "late night" use as it is not
proposed to operate beyond 10.00pm,
consideration has been given to the
provisions within this Section as they are
of some relevance to the proposed
increase of hours.
Please refer to the Issues Section for
discussion.

20

Local Planning Panel

4. Development Types

9 October 2019

Compliance

4.2 Residential flat,
commercial and mixed use
developments

4.2.3 Amenity

Comment
It is noted that the following objectives
and provisions apply to residential flat,
commercial and mixed use
developments only, however, have been
used to appropriately address amenity
requirements that are considered
relevant to the proposed development.

Yes

This section requires that a Noise
Impact Assessment prepared by a
suitably qualified acoustic consultant be
submitted for uses which may affect the
acoustic privacy of adjacent residential
uses, and the development is to
incorporate measures that reduce the
entry of noise from external sources into
dwellings.

4.2.3.11 Acoustic privacy

The proposed development and
accompanying Acoustic Report have
been amended during the assessment
process to ensure that the proposal
maintains adequate acoustic amenity for
surrounding residential properties. Refer
to the Issues Section for discussion.
4.2.9 Non-residential
development in the B4 Mixed
Uses Zone

Yes

This section requires that in granting
consent for non-residential development
on sites within proximity to residential
uses within the B4 Mixed Uses zone, the
consent authority must have regard to
potential impacts on the amenity of
existing residential uses, including noise
impacts.
As discussed in the Issues Section
below, the proposed intensification of
the use of the place of public worship
with the use of an additional prayer hall,
is not considered to result in adverse
noise impacts to surrounding residential
properties, subject to recommended
conditions.

21

Local Planning Panel

5. Specific Areas

9 October 2019

Compliance

Comment

5.2.2 Objectives for Green
Square

Yes

The proposed development is consistent
with the objectives for Green Square.
The proposal seeks to regularise and
appropriately manage the use of the
existing place of public worship, and in
doing so contributes towards ensuring
that the centres throughout Green
Square support the Town Centre and
serve the worker, resident, and visitor
population in accessible locations.

5.2.9 Building Design

Yes

Although these controls largely cater to
new developments, it is considered that
the proposed enclosure of the current
carport to a new prayer hall is consistent
with the requirements of this section in
that will not impact on the existing
heritage fabric of the building, nor its
overall appearance within the
conservation area.

5.2.10 Setbacks

Yes

The proposed enclosure aligns with
existing setbacks on site.

5.2.12 Above Ground Parking
Spaces and Adaptable Car
Parking Spaces

Yes

Although the proposal does not
comprise additional above ground
parking, it is noted that the existing car
parking area that is to be retained on the
north-eastern side of the site, is
screened with existing fences along its
street frontages to Bourke Street and
Navins Lane.

5.2 Green Square

Issues
Hours of Use
31.

Under the existing development consent DU/1990/27, the place of public worship has
consent for use between 9.00am and 5.00pm, Monday to Friday.

32.

The subject application seeks consent to extend the hours of use to between 6.00am
and 10.00pm, 7 days a week. The proposal also seeks consent to convert the
approved rear car park to an enclosed prayer hall to be able to accommodate all
worshipers for the religious holidays and prayer times.

22

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

33.

Section 3.15 of the Sydney DCP 2012 includes provisions to address late night
trading. Whilst the proposed development is not a "late night" use as it is not proposed
to operate beyond 10.00pm, the provisions are still of some relevance to the proposed
development.

34.

The provisions identify categories of use (A, B and C) and establish base hours of
operation that are considered appropriate within particular areas for each type of use
beyond which hours of operation are subject to restrictions. Base hours are defined as
the standard range of trading hours that a late night trading premises is entitled to if an
application is approved. The subject use would most appropriately be identified as a
Category C premises.

35.

Section 3.15.1 (3) of the DCP clarifies that the provisions do not apply to Category C
premises that do not operate beyond 10.00pm.

36.

Section 3.15.1 (4) of the DCP states that "Generally standard trading hours between
7am and 10pm will apply in business zones". The site is located in a B4 Mixed Use
zone. It is located in an area that would allow base hours of 10.00am to 10.00pm for a
Category A premises, 7.00am to 10.00pm for a Category B premises and 7.00am to
midnight for a Category C premises with hours outside of these, up to midnight, being
subject to trial periods etc.

37.

The increased hours are supported as they are consistent with Council's controls,
subject to those hours outside base hours being subject of a trial period.

38.

The hours of 6.00am to 7.00 am (outside of base hours) are required to allow the Fajr
prayer to take place. As it is anticipated that this prayer will only attract up to 20
worshippers, it is considered reasonable that the extended hours outside of base
hours be allowed on a trial basis.

39.

A condition of consent is recommended permitting base hours of 7.00am to 10.00pm,
7 days a week (consistent with the base hours permitted for indoor areas under
Section 3.15.4 of the Sydney DCP 2012), with extended hours permitted between
6.00am and 7.00am, 7 days a week, subject to a trial period of 12 months. A further
application may be lodged to continue the extended hours prior to the expiry of the trial
period.

40.

It is considered that granting consent for the above base and extended hours is
appropriate within the context of the City's trading hours controls. These controls assist
in allowing trading hours to meet the social and cultural needs of the community, while
managing the effects of these uses on the neighbourhoods in which they are located.

Noise Impact
41.

As a result of the increase in hours and the intensification of use, a key concern
throughout the assessment of the application has been potential noise, particularly
emission from the use of the new prayer hall and associated noise from increased
persons entering and leaving the site and its impact on surrounding land uses.

42.

At the time of lodgement of the application in September 2018, the proposal only
involved the change of use of the existing covered car parking area to a new prayer
space (i.e. change of use of the area with no physical works proposed).

23

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

43.

Following a preliminary assessment of the application, concerns were raised by City
staff in December 2018 and additional acoustic assessment and amended plans to
incorporate attenuation works were requested to ensure that the proposed use could
operate and comply with relevant noise criteria. The proposal was amended by the
applicant in February 2019 to enclose this new prayer hall area in an effort to minimise
noise transmission and mitigate impacts on neighbours.

44.

A review of the revised acoustic assessment and amended proposal enclosing the
prayer hall by City staff noted an inconsistency between documentation, notably the
materiality of the new external walls and its acoustic attenuation, and the need for
more robust noise control measures based on an accurate size of attendance for each
of the different prayer times.

45.

Amended documentation was submitted by the applicant in April and August 2019 to
address the above concerns.

46.

The final revised Acoustic Report and Plan of Management (POM) submitted in August
2019 has been reviewed by the City's Environmental Health Specialist, and it has been
concluded that the proposal is acceptable.

47.

It has been assessed that the amended Acoustic Report demonstrates that the
proposed use can meet the appropriate acoustic assessment criteria, and the noise
emission from the new prayer hall and associated increase in persons entering and
leaving the site will not adversely impact upon the acoustic amenity of nearby
residences, subject to the implementation of recommendations within the report.
These recommendations are addressed by conditions of consent, and include the
following:
(a)

General:
(i)

Provide education to staff on noise management responsibilities.

(ii)

Encourage worshippers accessing and egressing the site via a vehicle, to
do so in a quiet and orderly manner.

(iii)

Ensure that the carpark is closed prior to 8.00am, to minimise noise
impacts.

(iv)

The provision of signs to be mounted on walls of the carpark and in the
prayer hall, to remind worshippers to respect the amenity of surrounding
residential properties.

(v)

Ensure that management encourage worshippers to enter and disperse in
an orderly manner, and that they do not congregate in the courtyard or
surrounding area.

(vi)

Management to ensure that no disturbance occurs or emanates from the
site which would be likely to cause a nuisance to surrounding sites or
cause detriment to the amenity of the area.

(vii) Encourage worshippers to only use enclosed rooms for discussions and
meetings with fully closed doors.
(viii) Ensure that no external sound amplification equipment or loud speaker(s)
are to be used.

24

Local Planning Panel

(b)

48.

9 October 2019

Community consultation:
(i)

Inform surrounding properties about the nature of measures in place to
minimise noise impact.

(ii)

Provide early notice to surrounding properties of special event prayers
(Jumaa, Eid and Taraweeh), describing the activities and likely duration.

(iii)

Appoint a principal contact person for community queries.

(iv)

Provide 24-hour contact details through letters and site signage.

(v)

Record complaints and follow a complaint response procedure suitable to
the scale of events. The procedure should include the following
information:
(i)

Time and date of complaint received, and relevant information about
the reason for the complaint, including the time and date of the event
that caused disturbance.

(ii)

Contact details for the complainant.

(iii)

Details of when and how the complaint was addressed.

(iv)

Details of follow-up with the complainant, including the time and date
of any meetings, phone calls and emails. A record of the response
should also be kept.

It is considered that the implementation of the above noise management
recommendations will assist in ameliorating adverse acoustic impacts on surrounding
residential properties.

Traffic and Parking
49.

The existing place of public worship has 15 car parking spaces, with 4 spaces
contained within the south-western car park, and 11 spaces provided in the northeastern car park. The application seeks a reduction of 4 car parking spaces, with the
conversion of the south-western car park to a new enclosed prayer hall.

50.

Under the Sydney LEP 2012, the maximum number of car parking spaces permitted
for a building used for the purposes of a place of public worship is 1 space for every 10
seats or 1 space for every 30sqm of GFA. This equates to a maximum of 26 parking
spaces permitted on site. The proposal provides for 11 car parking spaces, which
complies with the maximum requirement.

51.

The proposed loss of 4 on-site car parking spaces is acceptable given that the
maintenance of 11 spaces complies with the above maximum amount, and that the
proposal is benefited by being accessible to public transport (within 350m of Green
Square train station and less than 75m from bus stops on Elizabeth Street). As
detailed further below, staff and worshippers will be encouraged to utilise more
sustainable modes of transport.

25

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

52.

The proposal will increase the floor space on the site, therefore allowing for an
increased internal capacity of the approved use on site. It is noted that the existing
consent for the site (DU/1990/27) does not restrict the capacity of the site, and that the
covered car parking area, which is to be enclosed to create a prayer hall, has been
used for the purpose of prayers. The enclosure of this space is to accommodate the
current use of the site rather than allow for further expansion.

53.

The perceived increase in persons, in addition to an increase in hours, has given rise
to concerns being raised in submissions regarding increased traffic and congestion,
and associated off-street parking impacts.

54.

Following a preliminary assessment of the application, transport issues were raised by
City staff in December 2019. Specifically, it was required that:
(a)

a Plan of Management (POM) be prepared to address the management of noise,
traffic and parking, particularly during the larger occasions;

(b)

the proposal include the provision of bicycle parking spaces in association with
the intensification of the existing use;

(c)

a revised Traffic Report be prepared to address the service vehicle parking
requirements of the site; and

(d)

a Transport Access Guide (TAG) be prepared to provide information on dropoff/pick-up locations, public transport options, pedestrian access and cycleway
networks, for worshippers.

55.

In response, in February 2019, an Addendum to the original Noise, Traffic and Parking
Management Plan was submitted which provided more information on distribution
strategies and service vehicle requirements, as well as a Transport Access Guide
(TAG).

56.

Following assessment of the additional information, City staff requested further
amendments in March 2019. These included that the car parking layout meet the
Australian Standards, that all documentation be consistent regarding transport and a
more detailed TAG be submitted. It is noted a condition is included in recommendation
to ensure that the parking design demonstrates compliance with the Australian
Standards.

57.

The final Traffic and Parking Report, TAG and accompanying Transport Access Map,
submitted in April 2019, has been reviewed by the City's Transport Unit. It is
considered that the proposal, as accompanied by this documentation, is acceptable
with regard to traffic and parking impacts, for the following reasons:
(a)

For majority of the week, the number of worshippers in the prayer hall is not
expected to be more than 20 people. During special events whereby there is an
increase in worshipper numbers, these either do not occur during the morning or
afternoon/evening peak hours (Jumaa to occur only on Fridays at midday and
Taraweeh to only occur for one month of the year in the evening), or only occur
twice a year (for the Eid prayers).

26

Local Planning Panel

58.

9 October 2019

(b)

The proposal is not considered likely to result in excessive traffic generation, with
worshippers and visitors encouraged to walk, cycle, use public transport, or carpool. The amended proposal includes the provision of bicycle parking spaces.
The amended TAG provides for detailed information on accessing the site, and
distribution of the TAG through various forms of communication is recommended
to be imposed as a condition of consent.

(c)

The proposal will not adversely affect the efficiency and ongoing operation of the
existing street network, with the estimated traffic generation considered to be
low, and the premises to utilise Navins Lane as an entry point to the existing car
park and exit in a forward direction only with egress to Bourke Street.

(d)

The final POM and Traffic and Parking Report include a number of measures to
manage the traffic circulation within the site and any associated traffic impacts.
These measures are recommended to be implemented via conditions of consent
requiring compliance with the reports, and include:
(i)

on-site management and security are to manage the number of vehicles
entering the car park at any one time, to avoid queueing in Navins Lane;

(ii)

on-site management and security are to enforce a no parking area in the
aisle of the car park;

(iii)

during special events, 5 staff members or volunteers are to be appointed
and located at exit points to ensure patrons exit the premises in an orderly
manner;

(iv)

staff to be trained to effectively disperse crowds; and

(v)

prior to special events, worshippers are to be encouraged to encourage
use public transport.

It is considered that implementation of the above measures will help minimise adverse
traffic impacts on surrounding residential properties.

Internal Referrals
59.

The application was discussed with Council's Environment Health Unit Heritage, Urban
Design Specialists, Building Services Unit, and Transport and Access Unit who
advised that the proposal is acceptable subject to the recommended conditions.

60.

The conditions of other sections of Council have been included in the proposed
conditions.

External Referrals
Notification, Advertising and Delegation
61.

In accordance with Schedule 1 of the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development is
required to be notified and advertised. The application was notified and advertised for
a period of 21 days between 15 October 2019 and 6 July 2019. The application was
re-notified and re-advertised for a period of 21 days between 9 May 2019 and 31 May
2019.

27

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

62.

As a result of both notification periods, there were 106 unique objections received. It is
noted that of the 106 objections received, these were from 69 individuals and 34 were
a preform letter with some additional comments.

63.

For ease of reference, the matters raised in the objections have been put together into
like topics.
(a)

Use of the site


The use of existing car parking area as prayer hall is not appropriate with
regard to negative impacts on surrounding development.



The proposed intensification of the use is not consistent with character of
the residential area.



Currently the existing car parking area is used unlawfully as a prayer hall.



There is a difference between a prayer hall and place of public worship.

Response - The proposed development application is seeking consent for the
conversion of the existing covered car parking area to an enclosed prayer hall
(effectively regularising the previously identified unauthorised use of this parking
area as an extension of the prayer hall) which is in association with the existing
use on site, a place of public worship.
A place of public worship is permissible with consent in the B4 Mixed Use zone,
and is defined as a building or place used for the purpose of religious worship by
a congregation or religious group, whether or not the building or place is also
used for counselling, social events, instruction or religious training.
(b)

Noise impacts


The proposed prayer hall is in close proximity to residential properties
leads and will lead to adverse noise and acoustic privacy issues.



The acoustic assessment is based off invalid assumptions, to give a
misleading representation of the actual use and impacts.

Response - The application has been amended during the assessment process
to enclose the prayer hall in order to acoustically attenuate this area and
minimise noise transmission to neighbouring properties.
The proposal has been assessed by Council's Environmental Health unit, who
are satisfied that the use of the premises is able to meet the relevant noise
assessment criteria, and will not result in adverse noise impacts to nearby
residential uses, subject to conditions.
(c)

Hours of operation


The extension of hours will have a negative impact on the area with traffic,
congestion, noise and parking.



The extended hours (prior to 9am and beyond 5pm) are not appropriate
within a residential area.

28

Local Planning Panel



9 October 2019

The extended hours will also result in sleep disturbance, which will impact
on the health and wellbeing of residents.

Response - The hours of operation have been assessed with regard to potential
noise and traffic impacts. As discussed in the Issues Section of this report, a
maximum number of 20 persons for majority of the day is expected. During
special events whereby there are increased worshippers, these occur on Fridays
at midday (Jumaa), for a one month duration in Ramadan (Taraweeh), and only
twice a year (Eid Prayers).
Conditions of consent are recommended to mitigate any noise and traffic impacts
during the extended hours. As discussed above, base hours are permitted as
well extended hours in accordance with Section 3.15 of the Sydney DCP 2012.
The extended hours are recommended to be approved on a 12-month trial basis.
(d)

Traffic and parking impacts


The use of the existing parking area as a prayer hall will decrease the
amount of on-site parking available and increase the reliance on on-street
parking.



Increase in pedestrian and vehicle congestion.



Increase in illegal parking along Navins Lane, McPherson Lane and Cook
Lane and grass area of Cook Lane.



Traffic assessment is inaccurate, and is carried out at times and managed
so as to give a misleading representation of the actual use and impacts.



Proposed parking provision does not comply with the relevant
requirements.



Patrons will not utilise public transport and continue to rely on taxis.



The light from vehicles in the early morning and evening will have a
negative impact on surrounding residential properties.

Response - A full assessment of the application against the relevant Council
controls is provided above. As discussed above, Council's Transport Unit are
satisfied with the submitted traffic assessment.
It is noted that several transport related conditions are recommended to be
included in the consent, to ensure that the proposed parking, access and loading
arrangements are properly implemented and managed.
(e)

Capacity


The site is not large enough to accommodate an increased number of
patrons.



The documentation submitted states a maximum capacity of between 100150 patrons for special events such as Jumaa and Taraweeh, which is not
accurate.



Queries regarding the existing capacity.

29

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

Response - The subject application and accompanying documentation have
been assessed against the number of worshippers expected for specific times
throughout the day, and have been assessed as acceptable.
It is recommended that the development operate strictly in accordance with the
submitted Plan of Management (POM), by way of a condition of consent. The
POM nominates a maximum capacity of 150 worshippers, during special events
only.
(f)

Existing roof and proposed enclosure


There is no evidence for the approval of the existing roof, and associated
heritage impacts.



The proposed enclosure will detract from the appearance and heritage
significance of the building.

Response - Development Consent No. D/2008/616 granted consent for the
construction of a permanent awning over the western car parking area.
As discussed above, the proposal is not considered to result in adverse impact
on the significance of the heritage item nor character of the conservation area,
give the bulk of the addition is not readily visible from the street.
(g)

Safety


Concerns regarding large congregations of people.



Crime increase.

Response - There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed development will
result in increased crime. With regards to the safety of residents, if matters of
safety are a concern these should be raised with the NSW Police to investigate.
(h)

Development application process


Concerns regarding how many times an application can be lodged.



Concerns regarding notification process.

Response - A development application can be lodged if a proposal is
permissible. Council is required to consider a proposal based on its merits and
assess it against the relevant controls which apply.
The proposal has been notified and advertised in accordance with Schedule 2.1
of the Sydney DCP 2012 on two occasions.
(i)

Pollution


Increased capacity will result in further rubbish and litter on the street.

Response - There is reason to expect that the proposed development will result
in significant increased rubbish and litter on the street.

30

Local Planning Panel

64.

9 October 2019

There was also 1 submission of support. The submission stated that the hours of
operation should not be restricted, and that the prayer is quiet and will not disturb local
residents.

Public Interest
65.

The proposed development relates to an appropriate and lawful use within the mixed
use zone. It is considered that the development will have no significant adverse effect
on the public interest, subject to appropriate conditions being proposed.

S7.11 Contribution
66.

The proposed development is not subject to a S7.11 contribution under the provisions
of the City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015, as it relates to a place of
public worship, which is excluded from the need to pay a contribution under Section
1.3 of the plan.

Affordable Housing Contribution
67.

Pursuant to Clause 7.13 of Sydney LEP 2012 and the Green Square affordable
housing program, the development is subject to affordable housing contributions (to be
indexed at the time of payment) of $12,155.52. This figure is calculated based on the
additional floor area of approximately 156 square metres.

Relevant Legislation
68.

The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

Conclusion
69.

70.

The subject application seeks consent for:
(a)

the regularisation of the use of a covered courtyard area previously approved for
car parking as an extension to the prayer hall,

(b)

alterations and additions to the premises to enclose the existing covered
courtyard, including new walls and glazing along the southern and western
elevations to create a new enclosed prayer hall, and

(c)

extension of the hours of use of the existing place of public worship from the
currently approved 9.00am – 5.00pm, Monday to Friday to 6.00am – 10.00pm, 7
days a week.

The proposal has been amended during the course of the assessment to address
concerns relating to noise and traffic impacts.

31

Local Planning Panel

9 October 2019

71.

Subject to the implementation of conditions, it is considered that the proposed
development is generally compliant with the relevant planning controls for the site
contained within the Sydney LEP 2012 and Sydney DCP 2012.

72.

The development is recommended to be granted for approval, subject to
recommended conditions included in Attachment A.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM
Director City Planning, Development and Transport
Mia Music, Planner

32

Attachment A
Recommended Conditions of Consent

33

CONDITIONS OF CONSENT
SCHEDULE 1A
APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION
Note: Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a Construction
Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation Certificate, where
indicated.
(1)

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT
(a)

Development must be in accordance with Development Application No.
D/2018/1138 dated 21 September 2018 and the following drawings::
Drawing Number

Drawing Name

Date

SHEET 01
SHEET 03

SITE PLAN
PROPOSED FLOOR
PLANS
ROOF PLAN
ELEVATIONS N & S
ELEVATIONS E & W
SECTIONS
FINISHES SCHEDULE
PARKING PLAN

18/4/19
18/4/19

SHEET 04
SHEET 05
SHEET 06
SHEET 07
SHEET 08
SHEET 09

18/4/19
18/4/19
18/4/19
18/4/19
18/4/19
18/4/19

and as amended by the conditions of this consent.
(b)

(2)

In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail.

USE OF THE NEW PRAYER HALL
The use of the new prayer hall must only commence from the date of issue of the
Occupation Certificate for the proposed works.

(3)

ON-GOING USE
The on-going use of the site is to be in accordance with Development
Consent No. DU/1990/27.

(4)

AFFORDABLE HOUSING CONTRIBUTION - GREEN SQUARE - PAYMENT OF
MONEY IN LIEU OF FLOOR SPACE
In accordance with Clause 7.13 of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and
prior to a Construction Certificate being issued, the applicant must provide
evidence that a monetary contribution towards the provision of affordable housing
has been paid at the office of the Department of Planning or a bank guarantee in
favour of The Department of Planning to the value of the required contribution has
been lodged. The contribution is $12,155.52 based on the in lieu monetary
contribution rate for non-residential development at $77.92 per square metre of

34

total non-residential floor area 156sqm. Contributions will be indexed in
accordance with the formula set out below.
Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, whichever
is earlier, the applicant must provide evidence that the bank guarantee referred to
above has been redeemed as payment of this contribution. If the contribution is
paid after the indexation period in which the consent is granted 1 March 2019 to
29 February 2020, the amount of the contribution will be indexed in accordance
with the formula set out below.
Notes:
(a)

Applicants have two payment options:
Option 1 is payment by bank cheque using "Form B - Receipt to Release
Certificate of Construction after payment by Bank Cheque". Form B must be
obtained from the Green Square Project Team in the City Strategy and
Design Unit at the City of Sydney, and then must be lodged with a bank
cheque with the NSW Department of Planning.
Option 2 is lodgement of a bank guarantee using "Form A - Receipt to
Release Certificate of Construction after lodgement of Bank Guarantee".
Form A must be obtained from the Green Square Project Team
GSPT@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au in the City Strategy and Design Unit at the
City of Sydney, and then must be lodged with a Bank Guarantee with the
NSW Department of Planning.
Where Form A has been used, an occupation certificate will not be released
until payment by bank cheque using "Form C - Receipt to Release Certificate
of Occupancy after payment by Bank Cheque". Form C must be obtained
from the Green Square Project Team GSPT@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au in
the City Strategy and Design Unit at the City of Sydney and then must be
lodged with a bank cheque with the NSW Department of Planning.

(b)

Applicants are made aware that the contribution amount quoted in this
condition may not be final and that a correct indexed affordable housing
contribution amount can be obtained from the relevant Form A, B or C at
time of payment.

(c)

Forms A, B or C for payment of the affordable housing contribution can only
be obtained from the City of Sydney, 456 Kent Street Sydney. Quote the
development application number and the relevant Council officer will provide
the applicant with an indexed contribution amount which must be paid at the
Department of Planning. To arrange payment, contact the Housing Policy
Team, NSW Department of Planning on Ph: 9228 6111 or Fax: 9228 6455
to arrange a time for payment.

(d)

The contribution will be indexed on the basis of the Established House Price
Index for Sydney as published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics.

(e)

Contributions at Time of Payment = C x HPI2 / HPI1, where:
(i)

C is the original contribution amount as shown above;

35

(ii)

HPI2 is the Established House Price Index: All Groups Index for
Sydney available from the Australian Bureau of Statistics at the time
of the payment; and

(iii)

HPI1 is the Established House Price Index: All Groups Index for
Sydney available from the Australian Bureau of Statistics that applied
at the date of the consent 1 March 2019 to 29 February 2020.

The amount of the monetary contribution is calculated on the total floor area (not
a percentage of it). Contribution = (total residential floor area sqm) x residential
rate ($) + (total non-residential floor area (sqm) x non-residential rate ($) + (total
non-residential floor area (sqm) x non-residential rate ($)
(5)

HOURS OF USE
The hours of operation are regulated as follows:

(6)

(a)

The hours of use must be restricted to between 7.00am and 10.00pm,
Monday to Sunday.

(b)

Notwithstanding (a) above, the use may operate between 6.00am and
7.00am, Monday to Sunday, for a trial period of 1 year from the date of issue
of the Occupation Certificate. Council’s Health and Building Unit is to be
informed in writing of the date of commencement of the trial hours. Email
notification is to be sent to liquor@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au

(c)

A further application may be lodged to continue the operating hours outlined
in (b) above not less than 30 days before the end of the trial period. Council’s
consideration of a proposed continuation and/or extension of the hours
permitted by the trial will be based on, among other things, the performance
of the operator in relation to the compliance with development consent
conditions, any substantiated complaints received and any views expressed
by the Police.

PLAN OF MANAGEMENT
The use must always be operated / managed in accordance with the Plan of
Management, prepared by Juniper Lane Heritage and Planning dated 9 August
2019 (2019/399545) and the operational measures within section 6.3 of the
acoustic report by Telemetrix PTY LTD dated 9 August 2019, Project number
17081901J version 6 (2019/399545) that has been approved by Council.
In the event of any inconsistency, the conditions of this consent will prevail over
the Plan of Management.

(7)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACOUSTIC REPORT PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION
AND OR OCCUPATION CERTIFICATES
(a)

All relevant performance parameters (including but not limited to
requirements, engineering assumptions and recommendations) in the
updated DA Acoustic Report Environmental Noise Assessment, prepared
by Telemetrix PTY LTD dated April 2019, Project number 17081901J

36

version 6 (2019/399545) must be implemented in the development prior to
the commencement of the use of new prayer hall.
(b)

Prior to the issue of any relevant Construction Certificate, the final
construction drawings and final construction methodology must be assessed
and reported to be in accordance with the requirements of the DA Acoustic
Report in (a) above, with reference to relevant documentation. This must be
done by a Suitably Qualified Acoustic Consultant* (see definition below).
This work will be to the satisfaction of the certifier.

(c)

Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, a Suitably Qualified Acoustic
Consultant* is to provide a written Acoustic Verification Report to the
satisfaction of the Principal Certifier that the development complies with the
requirements set out in the Report and in (a) and (b) above.
Note: Suitably Qualified Acoustic Consultant means a consultant who
possesses the qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the
Australian Acoustics Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the
Association of Australian Acoustic Consultants at the grade of member.

(d)

(8)

All physical aspects of the building’s structure installed in order to meet
performance parameters in accordance with this condition must be
maintained at all times.

NOISE
(a)

The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use must not exceed the
background noise level (LA90, 15minute) in any Octave Band Centre Frequency
(31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive) by more than 5dB between the hours of 7.00am
and 12.00 midnight when assessed at the boundary of any affected
residence.

(b)

The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use must not exceed the
background noise level (LA90, 15 minute) in any Octave Band Centre Frequency
(31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive) between the hours of 12.00 midnight and 7.00am
when assessed at the boundary of any affected residence.

(c)

Notwithstanding compliance with (a) and (b) above, noise from the use when
assessed as an LA10, 15 minute enters any residential use through an internal to
internal transmission path is not to exceed the existing internal LA90, 15 minute
(from external sources excluding the use) in any Octave Band Centre
Frequency (31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive) when assessed within a habitable
room at any affected residential use between the hours of 7am and
12midnight. Where the LA10, 15 minute noise level is below the threshold of
hearing, Tf at any Octave Band Centre Frequency as defined in Table 1 of
International Standard ISO 226 : 2003- Normal Equal-Loudness-Level
Contours then the value of Tf corresponding to that Octave Band Centre
Frequency shall be used instead.

(d)

Notwithstanding compliance with (a), (b) and (c) above, the noise from the
use must not be audible within any habitable room in any residential use
between the hours of 12.00 midnight and 7.00am.

(e)

The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use must not exceed the
background noise level (LA90, 15 minute) in any Octave Band Centre Frequency

37

(31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive) by more than 3dB when assessed indoors at
any affected commercial premises.
Note: The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use is as per the definition in
the Australian Standard AS1055-1997 Acoustics – Description and measurement
of environmental noise. The background noise level LA90, 15 minute is to be
determined in the absence of noise emitted by the use and be representative of
the noise sensitive receiver. Background noise monitoring must be carried out in
accordance with the long-term methodology in Fact Sheet B of the NPfl unless
otherwise agreed by the City’s Area Planning Manager.
(9)

NOISE – COMMERCIAL PLANT / INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT
(a)

Noise from commercial plant and industrial development must not exceed a
project amenity/intrusiveness noise level or maximum noise level in
accordance with relevant requirements of the NSW EPA Noise Policy for
Industry 2017 (NPfI) unless agreed to by the City’s Area Planning Manager.
Further:
(i)

Background noise monitoring must be carried out in accordance with
the long-term methodology in Fact Sheet B of the NPfI unless
otherwise agreed by the City’s Area Planning Manager.

(ii)

Commercial plant is limited to heating, ventilation, air conditioning,
refrigeration and energy generation equipment.

For internal residential and commercial amenity only
(b)

An LAeq,15 minute (noise level) emitted from the development must not exceed
the LA90, 15 minute (background noise level) by more than 3dB when assessed
inside any habitable room of any affected residence or noise sensitive
commercial premises at any time. Further:
(i)

The noise level and the background noise level shall both be measured
with all external doors and windows of the affected residence closed.

(ii)

Background noise measurements must not include noise from the
development but may include noise from necessary ventilation at the
affected premise.

(10) NO SPEAKERS OUTSIDE
Speakers and/or noise amplification equipment must not be installed and amplified
voices must not be played in any of the outdoor areas associated with the
premises including the public domain. Speakers located within the premises must
not be placed so as to direct the playing of amplified voices towards the outdoor
areas associated with the premises.
(11) ALLOCATION OF PARKING
The number of car parking spaces to be provided for the development shall not
exceed the table below. Details confirming the parking numbers shall be submitted

38

to the satisfaction of the Certifying Authority prior to the issue of a Construction
Certificate.
Car Parking Type
Place of public worship/entertainment facility car parking
Accessible place of public worship/entertainment facility
car parking
Total

Number
11
1
11

(12) PARKING DESIGN
The design, layout, signage, line marking, lighting and physical controls of all offstreet parking facilities must comply with the Australian Standard AS/NZS 2890.1
- 2004 Parking facilities Part 1: Off-street car parking and Australian Standard
AS/NZS 2890.6 - 2009 Parking facilities Part 6: Off-street parking for people with
disabilities. The details must be submitted to and approved by the Principal
Certifier prior to a Construction Certificate being issued.
(13) SMALL CAR PARKING SPACES AND DIMENSIONS
The design and layout of all off-street small car parking spaces must comply with
the minimum requirements of Australian Standard AS/NZS 2890.1 - 2004 Parking
facilities Part 1: Off-street car parking and Council’s Development Control Plan.
The details must be submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifying Authority
prior to a Construction Certificate being issued.
All small car spaces must be clearly marked and identifiable as small car spaces.
The signs or line markings must be in place and approved by the Principal Certifier
prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued and must be maintained in good
order at all times.
(14) COST OF SIGNPOSTING
All costs associated with signposting of kerbside parking restrictions and traffic
management measures associated with the development shall be borne by the
developer.
(15) BICYCLE PARKING AND END OF TRIP FACILITIES
The minimum number of bicycle parking spaces and end of trip facilities to be
provided for the development must comply with the table below.
User
Staff

Quantity Requirements
2
Class B bicycle parking facility
in accordance with AS2890.3

Visitor/users of the
site

8

End of Trip Facility
Type

Number

Class C bicycle parking facility
in accordance with AS2890.3

39

Personal lockers

2

The layout, design and security of bicycle facilities must comply with Australian
Standard AS 2890.3:2015 Parking Facilities Part 3: Bicycle Parking Facilities. The
details must be submitted to and approved by the Principle Certifier confirming
prior to the Construction Certificate being issued.
(16) SERVICE VEHICLE SIZE LIMIT
The size of vehicles servicing the property must not exceed 5.2 m.
(17) TRANSPORT ACCESS GUIDE
The Transport Access Guide submitted with this application must be implemented
and maintained (updated/revised from time to time) by the operators of the
premises and be made available to staff, clients, customers and visitors at all
times. TAG should specially refer to the users of the site in the case of full capacity
gathering / function/ special prayers through the booking system and/or all sorts
of communication (electronic and printed) media.
(18) BIG EVENTS AND PRAYERS TRAFFIC AND PARKING MANAGEMENT PLAN
The Traffic, Parking and associated Vehicle Queue Management plans and
strategies as outlined in the Plan of Management that is submitted with this
application must be implemented and maintained by the operators of the premises
for all the full capacity event/prayer occasions at all times.
Any change in the traffic, parking and vehicle queue management from the
approved POM must be submitted to the Council and approved by the Council’s
Director City Planning, Development and Transport prior to grant the consent to
continue the current use of the site.

40

SCHEDULE 1B
PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH AND
BUILDING
(19) ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS
(a)

All works removing asbestos containing materials must be carried out by a
suitably licensed asbestos removalist duly licensed with Safework NSW,
holding either a Friable (Class A) or a Non- Friable (Class B) Asbestos
Removal Licence which ever applies.
A copy of the relevant licence shall be made available to any authorised
Council officer on request within 24 hours.

(20) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MINOR DEVELOPMENT
(a)

The drainage system is to be constructed in accordance with the City's
standard requirements as detailed in the City of Sydney’s Stormwater
Drainage Manual, as amended from time to time.
The development is to be designed so that the flow of pollutants from the
site due to stormwater is reduced.

(21) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - MINOR
The proposal must comply with the relevant provisions of Council's Guidelines for
Waste Management in New Developments 2018 which requires facilities to
minimise and manage waste and recycling generated by the proposal.
(22) ACCESS AND FACILITIES FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES
The building must be designed and constructed to provide access and facilities for
people with a disability in accordance with the Building Code of Australia.
If, in complying with this condition, amendments to the development are required,
the design changes must be submitted to and approved by Council prior to a
Construction Certificate being issued.
(23) STRUCTURAL CERTIFICATION FOR EXISTING BUILDING – ALTERATIONS
AND ADDITIONS
A qualified practising certified structural engineer must provide structural
certification to Council (where Council is the Principal Certifier) verifying that the
existing structure can adequately support the proposed new loads and the
structural design complies with the Structural Provisions of Part B1 (Vol 1) and
Part 2.1 (Vol 2) of the Building Code of Australia prior to a Construction Certificate
being issued. The proposed additional loads and/or alterations must not cause a
decrease in the existing structural performance of the building including its
performance under earthquake actions (AS1170.4).

41

(24) GENERAL HERITAGE
(a)

The proposed works are to be carried out in a manner that minimises
demolition, alterations and new penetrations/fixings to the significant fabric
of the existing building which is listed as a Heritage Item.

(b)

The fabric and features to be retained by the proposal must be properly
protected during the process of demolition and construction. The protection
measures are to be specified in the construction management plan.

(c)

All conservation and adaptation works are to be in accordance with the
Articles of the Australian ICOMOS Burra Charter 2013.

(d)

New services are to be surface mounted rather than chased-in to existing
walls to minimise impact on heritage fabric.

(e)

Appropriately qualified tradespersons (as appropriate) are to be
commissioned who are skilled in traditional building and engineering trades
to carry out the proposed scope of works.

(25) STREET TREE PROTECTION
Street trees must be protected in accordance with the Australian Standard 4970
Protection of Trees on Development Sites. All street trees must be protected
during the construction works as follows:
(a)

Tree trunk and major limb protection must be undertaken prior to or during
the installation of any hoarding or scaffoldings. The protection must be
installed by a qualified Arborist (AFQ 2 or 3) and must include:
(i)

An adequate clearance, minimum 250mm, must be provided between
the structure and tree branches, limbs and truck at all times;

(ii)

Tree trunk/s and/or major branches, located within 500mm of any
hoarding or scaffolding structure, must be protected by wrapped
hessian or similar material to limit damage, and

(iii)

Timber planks (50mm x 100mm or similar) must be placed around tree
trunk/s. The timber planks must be spaced at 100mm intervals, and
must be fixed against the trunk with tie wire, or strapping. The hessian
and timber planks must not be fixed to the tree in any instance, or in
any fashion,

(iv)

Tree trunk and major branch protection is to remain in place for the
duration of construction and development works, and must be
removed at the completion of the project.

(b)

All hoarding support columns are to be placed a minimum of 300mm from
the edge of the existing tree pits/setts, so that no sinking or damage occurs
to the existing tree setts. Supporting columns must not be placed on any tree
roots that are exposed.

(c)

Materials or goods, including site sheds, must not be stored or placed:
(i)

around or under the tree canopy; or

42

(ii)

within two (2) metres of tree trunks or branches of any street trees.

(d)

Protective fencing (1.8 metre chain wire mesh fencing) must be erected on
top of the hoarding [Tree Management Team to insert location of hoarding
and affected trees] to protect branches during the construction works.

(e)

Any damage sustained to street tree/s as a result of the erection of
hoardings, scaffolding, or due to the loading/unloading of vehicles adjacent
the site, must be immediately reported to the Council's Street Tree Contract
Coordinator on 9265 9333, in order to determine the appropriate action for
maintaining the health and structural integrity of any damaged street tree.

(26) WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION CONTRACT
Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued and/or commencement of the use,
whichever is earlier, the building owner must ensure that there is a contract with a
licensed contractor for the removal of all waste. No garbage is to be placed on
the public way, e.g. footpaths, roadways, plazas, reserves, at any time.

.

43

SCHEDULE 1C
DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION
(27) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED
An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a copy
submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the whole or
any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to an existing
building.
(28) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD
The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows:
(a)

All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and activities in
the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for the
commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading of goods, transferring of
tools etc) in connection with the proposed development must only be carried
out between the hours of 7.30am and 5.30pm on Mondays to Fridays,
inclusive, and 7.30am and 3.30pm on Saturdays, with safety inspections
being permitted at 7.00am on work days, and no work must be carried out
on Sundays or public holidays.

(b)

All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992
and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites.

(c)

Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations,
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street
use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to a permit
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993
and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993.

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid the
loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to avoid
structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding
The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in accordance
with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and
Assessment Act 1979.
(29) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION
The following requirements apply:
(a)

All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be
accommodated on site.

44

(b)

If it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a Works
Zone on the street may be considered by Council.

(c)

A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible on
site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to Council
at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An approval for
a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain hours of the
days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities at various
stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed periodically for any

(d)

Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be undertaken
including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval under Section 68
of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained.

(30) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY
The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips or
the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement will
result in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site.
(31) USE OF MOBILE CRANES
The following requirements apply:
(a)

Mobile cranes operating from the road must not be used as a method of
demolishing or constructing a building.

(b)

For operations warranting the on-street use of mobile cranes (such as
delivery of materials, hoisting of plant/equipment, erection and dismantling
of onsite tower cranes, etc), permits must be obtained from Council for the
use of a mobile crane. The permits must be obtained 48 hours beforehand
for partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council will create minimal
traffic disruptions and 4 weeks beforehand in the case of full road closures
and partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council, will create
significant traffic disruptions.

(c)

Special operations and the use of mobile cranes must comply with the
approved hours of construction. Mobile cranes must not be delivered to the
site prior to 7.30am without the prior approval of Council.

(32) USE OF HIGH NOISE EMISSION APPLIANCES / PLANT
(a)

The operation of high noise emission appliances, plant and/or machinery
such as pile – drivers, rock breakers and hydraulic hammers and those
which are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 of the City of
Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 and Australian
Standard 2436-2010 Guide to Noise Control on Construction, Maintenance
and Demolition Sites is restricted to the hours of 9am to 12.30pm and 2pm
to 4.30pm Mondays to Fridays and 9pm to 1.30pm Saturdays.

(b)

All reasonable and feasible steps must be undertaken to ensure that the
work, including demolition, excavation and building complies with the City of
Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 and Australian

45

Standard 2436- 2010 Guide to Noise Control on Construction, Maintenance
and Demolition Sites.

46

SCHEDULE 2
PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS
The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply:
Clause 98

Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements
under the Home Building Act 1989

Clause 98A

Erection of signs

Clause 98B

Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements

Clause 98C

Conditions relating to entertainment venues

Clause 98D

Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage

Clause 98E

Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at:
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au

47

Attachment B
Selected Drawings

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

BUILDING

G DESIGN
DI

Attachment C
Amended Plan of Management

57

Junipe
LANE R
HERITAGE & PLANNING

PLAN OF MANAGEMENT
(Update 9 August 2019)
Prepared for

AUSTRALIAN FEDERATION OF ISLAMIC COUNCILS
932-934 Bourke Street, Zetland

p: 0468 767 238 e: juniperlaneheritage@gmail.com
58

Prepared for:

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
PO Box 331
Waterloo NSW 2017
Ph: 02 8303 2100

Compiled by:

Diane Gardoll
BA, BDesign (Architecture)

Modified report 10 April 2019
Revised 9 August 2019
ENVIRECC Noise, Traffic and Parking Report ENV132 - prepared by Envirecco Pty Ltd, 10 September 2018
has been used to form the basis of this report.

59

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLES................................................................................................................................................................................... 1
1.0
INTRODUCTION............................................................................................................................................................. 2
1.1
PURPOSE............................................................................................................................................................................ 2
1.2
STRUCTURE OF MP......................................................................................................................................................... 2
2.0
BACKGROUND INFORMATION................................................................................................................................. 3
2.1
DAILY PRAYER TIMES.................................................................................................................................................... 3
3.0
LEGAL AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS..................................................................................................................... 4
3.1
LEGISLATION.................................................................................................................................................................... 4
3.2
GUIDELINES AND STANDARDS................................................................................................................................... 4
4.0
EXISTING ENVIRONMENT.......................................................................................................................................... 5
4.1
SENSITIVE RECEIVERS.................................................................................................................................................. 5
4.2
BACKGROUND NOISE ENVIRONMENT...................................................................................................................... 5
4.3
EXISTING TRAFFIC CONDITIONS................................................................................................................................ 6
4.4
EXISTING PARKING CONDITIONS............................................................................................................................... 6
4.5
ACCESS AND LOADING................................................................................................................................................. 6
5.0
NOISE CRITERIA, TRAFFIC AND PARKING........................................................................................................... 8
5.1
NOISE CRITERIA.............................................................................................................................................................. 8
5.2
CARPARK........................................................................................................................................................................... 8
5.3
SLEEP DISTURBANCE..................................................................................................................................................... 9
5.2
TRAFFIC CRITERIA......................................................................................................................................................... 9
5.3
PARKING CRITERIA........................................................................................................................................................ 9
6.0
NOISE AND TRAFFIC/PARKING IMPACT ASSESSMENT................................................................................... 10
6.1
NOISE IMPACT ASSESSMENT..................................................................................................................................... 10
6.1.1 MOSQUE.......................................................................................................................................................................... 10
6.1.2 PATRON NOISE............................................................................................................................................................... 10
6.1.3 SLEEP DISTURBANCE.................................................................................................................................................... 11
6.2
TRAFFIC & PARKING IMPACT ASSESSMENT........................................................................................................... 12
7.0
ENVIRONMENTAL MITIGATION MEASURES...................................................................................................... 13
8.0
COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT................................................................................................................................ 15
8.1
ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES................................................................................................................................. 15
8.2
TRAINING........................................................................................................................................................................ 15
8.3
MONITORING AND INSPECTIONS.............................................................................................................................. 15
8.4
COMMUNITY NOTIFICATION...................................................................................................................................... 16
8.5
COMMUNICATION STRATEGY................................................................................................................................... 16
8.6
COMPLAINTS MANAGEMENT.................................................................................................................................... 17
8.6
AUDITS............................................................................................................................................................................ 17
9.0
SECURITY...................................................................................................................................................................... 18
10.0
REVIEW AND IMPROVEMENT................................................................................................................................. 17
APPENDIX A – ENVIRONMENTAL NOISE IMPACT ASSESSMENT........................................................................................ 19
APPENDIX B – TRAFFIC AND PARKING IMPACT ASSESSMENT........................................................................................... 64
APPENDIX C – TRAFFIC ACCESS GUIDE....................................................................................................................................... 88
APPENDIX D – LETTER OF SUPPORT FROM LOCAL COMMAND....................................................................................... 91

LIST OF TABLES
Table 1:
Table 2:
Table 3:
Table 4:
Table 5:
Table 6:
Table 7:
Table 8:

Daily Prayer Times............................................................................................................................................................ 4
Unattended Monitoring Results......................................................................................................................................... 5
Traffic Flows on Bourke and Elizabeth Street at the subject site...................................................................................... 6
Project Specific Noise Criteria...........................................................................................................................................8
Calculated Noise Impact Levels – Normal Operations...................................................................................................10
Predicted Car Park Noise Levels – 5 spaces................................................................................................................... 11
Mitigation Measures during normal operation................................................................................................................13
Mitigation Measures during special events..................................................................................................................... 14

601
Page

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

PURPOSE

This Plan of Management describes how the Australian Federation of Islamic Councils (AFIC) will
•
minimise and manage noise during prayer periods,
•
manage traffic and parking during its operation, and
•
provide behavoural and management recommendations.
This management plan has been prepared to address the requirements of the City of Sydney as part of a
development application (DA), a place of public worship, at 932-934 Bourke Street Zetland.
1.2

STRUCTURE OF MANAGEMENT PLAN

This Management Plan is a stand alone report and is supported by other documents;
the Noise Traffic and Parking Management Plan prepared by Envirecco,
the Environmental Noise Impact Assessment prepared by Telemetrix, and the Traffic and Parking Impact
Assessment prepared by Envirecco.
The review and document control processes for this document are described in section 9.

Page61
2

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
2.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION
2.1

DAILY PRAYER TIMES

The proposed site at 932-934 Bourke Street Zetland is currently used as a place of worship with visitors to the
site five times daily. The DA requests an extension of hours for worship to cater for additional prayers.
The number of expected guests per visit ranges from 5–20 people (refer to Table 1 for prayer times and number
of guests). It is expected that during the Eid special events (twice per calendar year) there will be just over 100
guests. The Taraweeh special event occurs as a once off event for 30 continuous days during the calendar year.
The operation times show in Table 1 cover Prayer times which need to be conducted in the prayer hall (5) times
on a daily basis. During Ramadan it is generally expected that there may be up to over 20 worshipers.
The exception to this is Jumaa pray and Tarraweeh pray. During Ramadan the Tarraweeh pray will be after Ishaa
pray may be over 100 people for each pray session. Jumaa Pray, Due to the Zetland Area as an industrial Area we
have fixed time for the Jumaa Pray, starting at 13.15 hrs Ended at 13.50, 365 days a year.
We have two Eids prays, Eid Al Fitr which come after Ramadan Fasting month, Eid Al Adha will come two
month and ten days after Eid Al Fitr both Eids will come ten days earlier in yearly calendar.
Table1: Daily Prayer Times
Prayer Name

Prayer during
ramadan

Pray time
begins

Pray time
ends

Fajr

6:00am

7:30am

Number of
guests
praying
5-20

Change

Dhuhr*

11:30am

1:00pm

5-20

No change

Jumaa*

1:15am

1:50pm

Over 100*

No change

Asr

3:00pm

4:00pm

5-20

No change

Maghreb

6:30pm

7:30pm

5-20

No change

Ishaa

6:45pm

9:00pm

5-20

No change

Change to
hours

Taraweeh

Yes

9:00pm

10:00pm

Over 100**

New

Eid Al Fitr

After

7:30am

8:30am

Over 100**

New

Eid Al Adha

After

7:30am

8:00am

Over 100**

New

* On Fridays Jumaa prayer replaces Dhuhr prayer and may have over 100 patrons.
**Maximum patronage is not expected to exceed 150 patrons.
Current practice sees people arriving for worship at various times for reading Qur’an prior to the
commencement of the formal pray period or congregate as a groups having a general greetings.
At the end of prayers all worshipers will depart the site directly after. Some may stay for personal worship or
religious study.
623
Page

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
3.0

LEGAL AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS

3.1

LEGISLATION

Legislation relevant to noise management includes:

3.2

•

Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 (POEO Act)

•

Protection of the Environment Operations (Noise Control) Regulation 2008

GUIDELINES AND STANDARDS

The following documents have been used in preparation of this management plan:
•

City of Sydney General Noise Condition

•

NSWEPA Industrial Noise Policy (INP) 2000

•

NSWEPA Road Noise Policy (RNP) 2011

•

NSWEPA Noise Guide for Local Government 2013

•
		

Australian Standard AS 1055-1997 ‘Acoustics – Description and Measurement of
Environmental Noise’

•

Australian Standard AS 1259.2-2005 ‘Acoustics – Sound Level Meters’

•

Roads and Maritime Services; ‘Guide to Traffic Generating Developments’ 2002

•

City of Sydney Development Control Plan 2012

•

City of Sydney Local Environment Plan 2012

Page63
4

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
4.0

EXISTING ENVIRONMENT

4.1

SENSITIVE RECEIVERS

Sensitive receivers include residential receivers to the north-east and south-east of the site.The nearest
residential receiver to the proposed site is north-east of site, 930 Bourke Street Zetland. Other noise sensitive
receivers are to the south-east in Nevans Lane, Zetland.
4.2

BACKGROUND NOISE ENVIRONMENT

Background noise monitoring was undertaken as part of the Noise Impact Assessment. Background noise levels
for the area reflect the daily traffic volume patterns, domestic, commercial and industrial activities. Traffic
noise is the dominant noise source in the area.
The detailed results of the noise monitoring are provided in Appendix A of this report. The background noise
levels can be seen in Table 2.
Table 2: Unattended Noise Monitoring Results
Noise Descriptor
Background Noise Levels
L A90
Ambient Noise Levels
L Aeq,15minute

Time of Day*
Day
Evening
Night
Day
Evening
Night

dBA
48
43
40*
59
54
52*

		
*Day		
7:am–6:00pm
Evening
6:00pm–10:00pm
Night		
10:00pm–7:00am
*The mosque will only be operating between 6:00am–7:00am during the night time period.

645
Page

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
4.3

EXISTING TRAFFIC CONDITIONS

Existing traffic conditions were assessed as part of the Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment.The results of
the traffic volume/intersection counts at the intersection of Bourke Street/Elizabeth Street, undertaken on Friday
18 August 2017, between 12:00pm and 2:00pm, to coincide with the peak prayer times that occurs on Fridays
‘Jumaa’ between 11:30am and 1:00pm can be seen in Table 3. The operational performance of the intersection
of Bourke and Elizabeth Street ranges from good with spare capacity to satisfactory. The detailed
assessment of the existing traffic conditions are provided in Appendix B of this report.
Table 3: Traffic Flows on Bourke and Elizabeth Street at the subject site
Traffic movement

Vehicles per hour
between
12:00-14:00 on
18.08.17

Bourke Street
Eastbound
Westbound
Elizabeth Street
Northbound
Southbound
4.4

Level of Service as per
RMS urban road peak
hour flows

517
617

C

411
274

B

EXISTING PARKING CONDITIONS

Existing on site and offsite parking conditions were assessed as part of the Traffic and Parking Impact
Assessment.
The proposed development will require an alteration to the line markups to accommodate a total of 12
carspaces. The results of the parking utilisation study undertaken on Friday 18 August 2017 (peak hours)
determined that offsite parking spaces were moderately to highly occupied. The detailed assessment of the
existing parking conditions are provided in Appendix B of this report.
4.5

ACCESS AND LOADING

All traffic entering the site enter via Navin Lane and exit via Bourke Street in a one way direction as shown in
Figure 1.

Page65
6

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

BOURKE STREET

PARKING REQUIREME

TO AS2980.1:2004, AS2980.2:201

CLASS C
DOUBLE BICYCLE RACKS

6

1 CARSPACE/30SQ M = 12 CARS

0
00

1 DISABLED CARSPACE/12 CARS

5,400

EXIT

1,

SMALL CAR

7

REQUIRED:

2 CLASS B BICYCLES SPACES
1,250

1,150

00
2,4

1,015

CLASS B
BICYCLE LOCKER

5

1,015

CLASS B
BICYCLE LOCKER

2,000

00
5,4

ELIZABETH STREET

7 CLASS C BICYCLES SPACES
450

1,840

EXISTING
ROOF
4,170
4,800

NOTE: LOCKERS AND SHOWERS
GROUND FLOOR BATHROOMS

4

NO
PARKING
IN AISLE
8

3

CARPARK

EXISTING
TERRACE
2

ONE
WAY
TRAFFIC

9

GATE

10
1

EXISTING
ROOF

LOW KERB

EXISTING
ROOF

11
ENTRY
WASTE

Figure 1
4.5.1

SLIDING GATE

NAVINS LANE

PATRONS

PA
THE DRAWINGS, ARRANGEMENTS, ANNOTATIONS AND GRAPHICAL PRESENTATIONS ON THIS DOCUMENT
ARE THE PROPERTY OF DiG BUILDING DESIGN. DiG BUILDING DESIGN RETAINS OWNERSHIP AND
AUTHORSHIP OF THIS DOCUMENT IN IT'S ENTIRETY.
THIS DOCUMENT MAY BE RECALLED AT ANY TIME AT DiG BUILDING DESIGN'S DISCRETION.

D O
SURVEYORS

N

O

T

S

C

A L

E

O

F F

D

PROJECT

BY

DATE

DG

18/04/19

REVISION

DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION

LOT 10 / DP74133

AUTHORISED USE OF THIS DRAWING IS GRANTED FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF THIS SPECIFIC PROJECT
AND LOCATION, AND NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION OR USE FOR ANY OTHER PROJECT. IT MAY NOT BE
REPRODUCED, USED OR PUBLICISED WITHOUT THE PERMISSION OF DiG BUILDING DESIGN.

PLANS MARKED 'PRELIMINARY' ARE FOR DESIGN PHASE AND NOT FOR USE BY EXTERNAL CONSULTANTS.

PURPOSE

DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION

L.G.A

ADDRESS

932-934 BOURKE STREET ZETLAND
NSW 2017

CLIENT

CITY OF SYDNEY COUNCIL

AUST FEDERATION OF ISLAMIC COUNCILS

GSPublisherVersion 0.68.100.75

As from Friday 12 April 2019 the Mosque Security Officer has been instructed to enforce a no parking
restriction between the marked parking spaces to ensure accessibility to all vehicle and cycle parking spaces
and to manage traffic to avoid vehicle queuing.
SERVICE VEHICLES

There is currently, and no future expectation, of heavy vehicle delivery on the site. Deliveries consist of
stationary and small office requisites. These are accommodated with a small van or standard vehicle.
These vehicles access the site as visitors and park in the designated visitor area or park for delivery in Navins
Lane.
Waste collection vehicles collect bins from in front of the Property on Elizabeth Street each Wednesday.
667
Page

G

P: 0412 084 909 E

Taxi/Private vehicle drop-off/pick-up
Elizabeth and Bourke streets are well serviced by Taxis both into the city, Eastern Suburbs and Airport.
Drop-off and Pick-up can be accommodated in the carpark accessed via Navins Lane or in Navins Lane.
Elizabeth Street and Bourke Street frontages are No Stopping Zones and should be avoided.

4.5.2

A W

DI

Worshippers to the site predominately arrive via Bus on Elizabeth Street. There is a Bus Stop opposite Navins
Lane on Elizabeth Street (See Figure 1 above).
CHANGE OF USE

TITLE DESCRIPTION

R

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
5.0

NOISE CRITERIA, TRAFFIC AND PARKING

5.1

NOISE CRITERIA

The project-specific noise management levels for this site have been determined in accordance with the INP
and are set out in Table 4.
It must be noted that as per City of Sydney General Noise Condition, modifying factors in the NSWEPA
Industrial Noise Policy are applicable for the emission of noise associated with the use of premises. That is the
acceptable noise level (ANL)+5dBA during the night time period and (ANL)+15dBA for the day and evening
due to duration factor (one single event in any 24 hour period) has been set to the intrusiveness criterion.
Special events include the Eid prayer (occurring in the Day Period between 7:30 and 8:30am) and the Taraweeh
(occurring in the Evening Period between 8:00–9:00pm).
Jumaa prayer (occuring in the Day Period between 11.30am and 1.00pm) occurs on a weekly basis only
(Fridays).
Table 4: Project Specific Noise Criteria
Noise Descriptor
Project Noise Levels
				
*Day		
7:00am – 6:00pm
Evening
6:00pm – 10:00pm
Night		
10:00pm – 7:00am

Time of Day*
Day
Evening
Night

Page67
8

L eq(15min),dBA
53
48
45

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
5.2

CARPARK

Carpark and driveway noise project specific levels for the day time period are 68dBAL eq,15min and 50dBAL eq,15min
for the night.
5.3

SLEEP DISTURBANCE

The sleep disturbance criterion is set at 60dBAL 1,1min. One or two noise events per night, with maximum internal
noise levels of 65-70dBA are not likely to affect health and wellbeing significantly. A noise level of 60-65dBA
outside an open bedroom window is unlikely to cause awakening reactions.
5.2

TRAFFIC CRITERIA

Good to satisfactory (A to C) level of service as per Roads and Maritime Services; ‘Guide to Traffic Generating
Developments’2002.
5.3

PARKING CRITERIA

Sydney 2012 DCP and LEP requires the following:
•

1 carspace for every 10 seats; or

•

1 carspace for every 30m2 of gross floor area of the building used for a place of worship

•

1 bicycle space for every 15 seats; or

•

1 bicycle space for every 40m2 of gross floor area

This equates to 12 parking spaces and 9 bicycle parking spaces.

689
Page

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
6.0

NOISE AND TRAFFIC/PARKING IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1

NOISE IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1.1

MOSQUE

Potential noise impact of the mosque on nearby receivers was calculated. The detailed results of the calculated
noise impact are provided in Appendix A of this report. Noise emissions from the main prayer room during
normal operations and special events will be significantly lower than the most stringent nighttime criteria at all
receivers.
6.1.2

PATRON NOISE

Potential noise impact of patron noise during normal operations, from people arriving and departing the
mosque, on nearby receivers was calculated. Noise impacts of 10 people arriving and departing from the
mosque at one time was assessed. Modifying factor adjustment of 5dBA for the day and evening period have
been applied as per the Industrial Noise Policy for ‘one event in any 24 hour period.’
Table 5: Calculated Noise Impact Levels – Normal Operations
Receiver

Activity

930 Bourke Street Zetland
876 Elizabeth Street Zetland
930 Bourke Street Zetland
876 Elizabeth Street Zetland

10 people – carpark activities
10 people – carpark activities
prayer
prayer

Predicted Noise Level
Overall dBA
48
40
26
38

Potential noise impact of patron noise during special events, from people arriving and departing the mosque,
on nearby receivers was calculated. Noise impacts of 10 people arriving and departing from the mosque at one
time was assessed. These special events include the Eid prayer (occurring in the Day Period between 7:30 and
8:30am) and the Taraweeh (occurring in the Evening Period between 9:00–10:00pm). The criteria will be met
for all periods at the Elizabeth Street receiver and may be slightly exceeded for the night timeperiod only at the
Bourke Street receiver.

Page 69
10

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
6.1.3

SLEEP DISTURBANCE

Noise generated from the carpark was assessed based on 5 parking spaces being used at one time.
Table 6: Predicted Car Park Noise Levels – 5 spaces
Noise Descriptor
Car Activity
Patron Voices

930 Bourke St
47dBA,Leq
60-67dBA,Lmax
50-55dBA,Leq
60-70dBA,Lmax

876 Elizabeth St
44dBA,Leq
55-60dBA,Lmax
45-50dBA,Leq
50-60dBA,Lmax

The sleep disturbance criterion is set at 60dBAL 1,1min. There is a potential for the sleep disturbance criteria,
nighttime period (6am–7am), to be exceeded at the Bourke Street receiver due to the assessed noise emissions
from the carpark activity. However, it must be noted that one or two noise events per night, with maximum
internal noise levels of 65-70dBA are not likely to affect health and wellbeing significantly as stated in the
Environmental Criteria for Road Traffic Noise published by the NSWEPA. A noise level of 60-65dBA outside
an open bedroom window is unlikely to cause awakening reactions.

Page7011

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
6.2

TRAFFIC & PARKING IMPACT ASSESSMENT

The results of the traffic assessment, detailed in Appendix B, states that the estimated traffic generation is
considered to be low and will not alter the current level of service (RMS classification) on surrounding streets.
The results of the parking assessment, detailed in Appendix B, states that the proposed development can be
easily accommodated by on site parking, the public transportation system and offsite parking opportunities.

Page 71
12

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
7.0

ENVIRONMENTAL MITIGATION MEASURES

Mitigation measures are required for normal operations and special events at 932-934 Bourke Street Zetland;
with the staff member responsiblefor itsimplementation and enforcement listed in Tables 7 and 8.
Table 7: Mitigation Measures during normal operation
Mitigation Measure
No External sound amplification equipment or loudspeakers
are to be used for the purpose of announcement, broadcast
and similar purpose
Erection of signage in the courtyard area to ensure that
no patrons associated with the mosque congregate in the
courtyard or in the surrounding area
Erection of signage at exit points to ensure patrons disperse
in an orderly manner
Erection of reflective signage in parking area to ensure
patrons arrive and depart from the mosque with their vehicles
in a quiet and orderly fashion
Creation and distribution of an educational flyer to members of
the congregation advising of parking and noise rules of the site
Limit number of patrons entering and exiting to 5 patrons per
entry/exit during the night time period (morning prayer) and
10 patrons during the day and evening period
Transport Access Guide (TAG) for site prepared and
distributed via email and website - see Appendix C
Modification to parking area to accommodate parking to
AS/NZS 2890.1 – 2004; AS/NZS 2890.2 – 2002; AS/NZS
2890.3 – 2005; and AS/NZS 2890.6 – 2009 - see submitted
Carparking Plan as prepared by DiG Building Design.
Instruct worshippers not to use the carpark for meetings and
discussion.
Mosque security staff to manage numbers of vehicles
entering Carpark at any one time to avoid queueing in
Navins Lane.
Mosque security staff to enforce no parking area in aisle of
carpark.

Page7213

Responsibility
Administration Manager
Administration Manager
Administration Manager
General Manager
General Administrator
General Manager
Administration Manager
General Manager
General Administration
Administration Manager
Administration Manager

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
Table 8: Mitigation Measures during special events
Mitigation Measure
No external sound amplification equipment or loudspeakers are
to be used for the purpose of announcement, broadcast and
similar purpose
Appointment of 5 staff or volunteers during special events to
ensure patrons exit the premises in an orderly fashion and in
small groups with appointed staff/volunteers at the exit point of
the prayer hall, carpark area and carpark exit
Staff to be trained to effectively disperse crowds and promote
efficient departure from the site
Staff to be dressed in high visibility vests during special events
Certified traffic marshals in high visibility gear will be present
on site to regulate traffic moveme nts in and out of the site and
to manage onsite parking
Trial a mini bus service for pickup and dropoff of patrons
Creation and distribution of an educational flyer to members
of the congregation prior to special events encouraging use of
public transport and minibus service
Limit number of patrons entering and exiting to 10 patrons
during the day and evening period
Creation and distribution of an eductional flyer to neighbouring
properties to advise of dates/times of upcoming large events
Instruct worshippers not to use the carpark for meetings and
discussion.
Mosque security staff to manage numbers of vehicles entering
Carpark at any one time to avoid queueing in Navins Lane.
Mosque security staff to enforce no parking area in aisle of
carpark.

Page 73
14

Responsibility
Administration Manager

General Manager
General Administrator
General Administrator
General Manager
General Administrator
General Administrator
General Manager
Administration Manager
General Administration
Administration Manager
Administration Manager

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
8.0

COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT

8.1

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The following staff roles will be responsible for implementation of this management plan:

8.2

•

Administration Manager

•

General Manager

•

General Administration

TRAINING

The four appointed staff members will be trained in noise management issues:
•

Existence and requirementsof this management plan

•

Relevant legislation

•

Standard operating hours

•

Location of noise sensitive receivers

•

Specific responsibilities to minimise impacts to receivers

8.3

MONITORING AND INSPECTIONS

DuringTaraweeh and Eid where the number of patrons is estimated to be 50 to just over 100 people, noise
monitoring at sensitive receptors should be undertaken at the two Eid special events per calendar year and at
least once during Taraweeh.
Attended noise monitoring will be undertaken at sensitive receptor locations in the following manner:
•
Where no complain ts have been received, noise monitoring will be undertaken at the nearest
		
sensitive receptor
•
Where complaints have been received, attended noise monitoring to be undertaken at a location
		
representative of the complainants premises
Records shall be kept detailing the measured noise levels, monitoring location, times, subjective observations
and prevailing meteorology.

Page7415

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
8.4

COMMUNITY NOTIFICATION

Prior to the commencement of Taraweeh and Eid, the community shall be notified of these special events.
The following measures will be undertaken:

8.5

•
		

Inform potentially noise-affected neighbours about the nature of measures in place to minimise
the noise impact;

•

Give notice as early as possible. Describe the activities and how long they are expected to take;

•

Keep affected neighbours informed of progress;

•

Appoint the General Manager as the contact person for community queries; and

•

Provide 24-hour contact details through letters and site signage.

COMMUNICATION STRATEGY

Information is to be communicated in the following manner:
•
		
		

Verbal
Communication to clients and Mosque visitors is predominantly word-of-mouth and via regular
meetings.

		
		

Mosque staff or volunteers will be available during special events on site to advise and assist
patrons.

•
		
		

Online
Organisation and Mosque information is available online via the organisation’s website:
Australian Federation of Islamic Councils - www.muslimaustralia.com.au

		
		
		

Prayer times for the Zetland Mosque are communicated online via:
https://gopray.com.au/place/zetland-mosque/?address=zetland&lat=-33.908&lng=151.2105000
0000002&distance=0.6&units=km

•
		
		

Hardcopy Materials
A Transport Access Guide (TAG) has been prepared (see Appendix C). This will be available via
email or online request on the website.

		
		
		

An Educational Flyer will be prepared for members of the congregation advising of parking and
noise rules as well as advising of transport options during special events. This will be distributed
during regular meetings.

		
		

An Educational Flyer will be prepared for neigbours advising of dates and times of special
events. This will be distributed via letterbox drop.

Page 75
16

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

8.5

•
		
		

Physical
Signage will be prepared in courtyard area advising patrons not to congregate in the courtyard
or surrounding areas.

		
		

Signage will be erected in parking area to ensure patrons arrive and depart in a quiet and orderly
manner.

COMPLAINTS MANAGEMENT

The General Manager shall be available during the Taraweeh and Eid and is responsible for managing and
recording all calls and emails received. The General Manager will require sufficient resources to effectively
manage complaints and w ill require access to noise monitoring personnel and access to site security and Police
representatives.
Where a complainant believes that noise from the event is impacting their acoustic amenity, the General
Manager will contact the monitoring personnel and inform them of the complaint.Following receipt of the
complaint, the monitoring personnel will (as soon as practical):

8.6

•

Undertake attended noise monitoring at the boundary of the complainant’s property;

•
		

If noise is found to exceed trigger levels, the monitoring personnel will contact the Complaints
Manager and request that noise levels be reduced;

•
		

Monitoring will continue at the complainant’s location until compliance with noise limits has
been confirmed; and

•

Details of the measured noise levels and action taken will be recorded.

AUDITS

Internal and external audits will be undertaken to assess the effectiveness of mitigation measures, compliance
with the requirements of this management plan and other relevant guidelines.

Page7617

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
9.0

SECURITY

In recent weeks, security at the Mosque has been upgraded to ensure the safety of patrons, staff and visitors to
the Mosque. This has been acknowledged by Local Command. A letter of support from local Area Command is
attached as Appendix D.

10.0 REVIEW AND IMPROVEMENT
The management plan will be reviewed annually to ensure compliance with legislative requirements and
its suitability and effectiveness for the project. The management plan can be reviewed and updated more
frequently where significant changes in the number of patrons occurs and/or where targets are not being
achieved.

Page 77
18

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

APPENDIX A
ENVIRONMENTAL NOISE IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Page7819

Confidential

FINAL

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
NSW 2017
Environmental Noise Impact
Assessment
Revised Acoustic Report

Prepared for:
Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.
Prepared by:
TELEMETRIX Pty Ltd
Date:
August 2019
Project Number:
17081901J

© TELEMETRIX Pty Ltd
ABN 33 162 884 077

www.telemetrix.com.au

79

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

2

9 August 2019

Disclaimer
This Report has been prepared by Telemetrix Pty Ltd on behalf of and for the exclusive use
of Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc. (“Client”), and is subject to and issued in
connection with the provisions of the agreement between Telemetrix Pty Ltd and its Client.
This Report is based on a specific scope, conditions and limitations, as agreed between
Telemetrix Pty Ltd and the Client. This Report has been produced from information relating
to dates and periods referred to in this document. The Report does not imply that any
information is not subject to change.
The Report which follows is intended only for use by the Client as it may contain confidential
and/or privileged material. It is not intended for and should not be relied upon by any third
party and no responsibility is undertaken to any third party.
Any unauthorized review, retransmission, dissemination or other use of, or taking any action
in reliance on, this Report by persons or entities other than the Client is prohibited.
© TELEMETRIX Pty Ltd
DOCUMENT CONTROL
Project Number

17081901J

Project Name

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW 2017
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment
17081901J_R6

Document Reference

Rev
No.

Author

Reviewer
Name

Approved for Issue
Signature

Name

Signature

Date

0

Vlado Pavasovic

Slavica Praporski

Vlado Pavasovic

22/08/2017

1

Vlado Pavasovic

Slavica Praporski

Vlado Pavasovic

23/08/2017

2

Vlado Pavasovic

Slavica Praporski

Vlado Pavasovic

5/10/2017

3

Vlado Pavasovic

Slavica Praporski

Vlado Pavasovic

23/5/2018

4

Vlado Pavasovic

Slavica Praporski

Vlado Pavasovic

4/9/2018

5

Vlado Pavasovic

Slavica Praporski

Vlado Pavasovic

17/04/2019

6

Vlado Pavasovic

Slavica Praporski

Vlado Pavasovic

9/08/2019

17081901J_R6

80

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

3

CONTENTS

Page

1

INTRODUCTION

6

2

SITE DESCRIPTION

6

3

PROPOSED OPERATION

10

4

EXISTING CONSTRUCTION

11

4.1

11

5

6

7

Proposed construction – Prayer Hall

NOISE CRITERIA

11

5.1

Operational Noise

11

5.2

Project Noise Criteria

16

5.3

Car Park

17

5.4

Sleep Disturbance

17

PREDICTED NOISE EMISSIONS–IMPACT ON ADJOINING
PROPERTY AREAS
18
6.1

Mosque

18

6.2

Car park activities

22

6.3

Recommendations/noise management controls

24

CONCLUSION

26

Table Index
Table 1

Unattended monitoring results

15

Table 2

Short-term noise measurements

16

Table 3

Project noise trigger levels

16

Table 4

Project trigger noise level

17

Table 5

Description of vocal effort at various speech levels
(A-weighted SPL in 1 m in front of the mouth

18

Table 6

Calculated impact noise levels (10 worshipers) –
930 Bourke Street, Zetland

19

Table 7

Calculated impact noise levels (10 worshipers) –
876 Elizabeth Street, Zetland

20

Table 8

Calculation of noise during the prayer 930 Bourke Street, Zetland

21

Table 9

Calculation of noise during the prayer -

876 Elizabeth Street, Zetland

22

Table 10

23

Typical car and noise levels

17081901J_R6

81

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Table 11

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

4

Predicted Car Park Noise Levels at the Nearest
Residences

17081901J_R6

82

23

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

5

GLOSSARY
dB

Units used to measure sound pressure levels on a logarithmic scale.

dB(A)

A-weighted decibel is the most commonly used descriptor. The A-weighting is an adjustment to
the raw sound level to approximate what the average human ear can hear, which is less
sensitive at very low and very high frequencies.

LAeq(T)

Equivalent continuous A-weighted sound pressure level of a noise energy-averaged over time.
When sound levels fluctuate in time, which is often the case for occupational noise, the
equivalent sound level is determined over a specific time period. In this guide, the A-weighted
sound level is averaged over a period of time (T) and is designated by LAeq,T.

LAmax(T)

Maximum ‘A’-weighted sound pressure level during a measurement period or a noise event.

LA90(T)

The A-weighted noise level equalled or exceeded for 90% of the measurement period. This is
commonly referred to as the background noise level.

17081901J_R6

83

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

6

1 INTRODUCTION
Telemetrix was commissioned by Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc. to prepare
another revised acoustic report as part of additional information for Development Application
No: D/2018/1138 for a place of worship at 932-934 Bourke Street, Zetland, NSW.
City of Sydney Council have reviewed the first revised acoustic report submitted, and
requested additional information that relate to:
• Noise from persons leaving and entering the premises;
• Noise from the new prayer hall. All prayers will be conducted within the proposed new
prayer hall, however there are issues with an increase of persons coming and going
to the premises (with access from the large carpark).
The following items have been addressed and updated in this version of the report:
• The noise criteria have been updated in accordance with the NSW EPA Nose Policy for
Industry (NPfI), which recently replaced the Industrial Noise Policy 2000. This is likely
to provide a stricter compliance targets with the changes in calculating amenity
criteria particularly for the night-time operation.
• Section 6.3 of the submitted Acoustic Report discussed the possibility of perhaps
providing a large barrier in the large car park. However, as recommended by the City
of Sydney Council, Telemetrix has explored the option of a smaller / less intrusive
barrier to provide additional attenuation to protect the residential amenity of the
adjacent property at 930 Elizabeth St.

2 SITE DESCRIPTION
The site is located at 932-934 Bourke Street, Zetland. The site location and its surroundings
are shown in Figure 1.The existing site plan is shown in Figure 2.
The most sensitive noise receiver in relation to the site is the adjoining residential premise to
the north-east, 930 Bourke Street, Zetland. The other noise sensitive receivers are to the
south-east in Navins Lane, Zetland.

17081901J_R6

84

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

7

Figure 1Site location and its surroundings

Nearest residential
receiver to the northeast of the site

Islamic Centre

Nearest residential
receiver to the southeast of the site

Islamic Centre
Nearest residential receivers

17081901J_R6

85

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

8

Islamic Centre’s
Prayer Room

Nearest residential
receiver to the northeast of the Islamic
centre

Islamic Centre’s
Proposed Prayer
Hall

Nearest residential
receiver to the southeast of the Islamic
centre

17081901J_R6

86

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

9

Figure 2 Site plan

Ground Floor

The existing covered carport to become prayer space for Jumaa, Taraweeh and Eid prays.
17081901J_R6

87

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

10

9 August 2019

3 PROPOSED OPERATION
The mosque would operate as a place of worship with prayers in congregation occurring five
times per day with varying numbers of worshipers to attend.
Prayers will commence at 6am and continue at intervals throughout the day until about
10pm. It is generally expected that there may be up to 20 worshipers attending most prayer
sessions. The exception to this is Jumaa and Tarraweeh prayer sessions where there may
be over 100 worshipers for each pray session.
The following operation times have been proposed to cover prayer’s time which need to be
conducted in the prayer hall five (5) times on daily basis and during Ramadan.
No.

Prayer
Names

1

Fajr

2

Dhuhr

3

Asr

4

Pray during
Ramadan

Pray time
begins

Pray time
ends

6am

7:30am

5-20

11:30am

1pm

5-20

3pm

4pm

5-20

Maghreb

6:30pm

7:30pm

5-20

5

Ishaa

6:45pm

9pm

5-20

6

Jumaa

1:15pm

1:50pm

Over 100

7

Taraweeh

9pm

10pm

Over 100

8

Eid Al Fitr

7:30am

8:30am

Over 100

9

Eid Al Adha

7:30am

8:30am

Over 100

Yes

Estimate of
guests praying

* On Fridays Jumma prayer will replace Dhuhr prayer and will have over 100 worshipers
The proponent has advised that there is to be no P.A. system or other public notification to
call worshippers to prayer. Current practice sees worshipers arriving for worship at various
times prior to the commencement of the formal prayer period.
It is expected that worshipers arriving before the commencement of prayers will either use
the time for reading and religious study or congregate in small groups inside the enclosed
rooms.
Similarly, the advice from the proponent is that on leaving, not all worshippers will depart the
site directly after the formal prayer. Some may stay for personal worship or religious study.
From an acoustic point of view the most significant parts of the operation will involve:
• The noise from prayer times, including worshipers arriving and departing;
• An assembly of worshipers in the courtyard and the car park; and
17081901J_R6

88

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

11

• Car park and traffic noise from vehicles entering and leaving the premises.

4 EXISTING CONSTRUCTION
The existing enclosed structure is constructed with the following:
• Double brick external masonry walls;
• Roof tiles with plasterboard internally; and
• 5 mm glazing windows

4.1 Proposed construction – Prayer Hall
Based on the information provided to us and review of architectural plans prepared by
Planshop. (Drawing number: 4247 Sheet 1-11; Date: 30/01/2019), it is understood that the
construction of the prayer hall is following:
External doors/walls
• Paragon aluminium fixed 5 lite transom panels with 6.38 mm clear laminated glass
(top) and 6.38 mm frosted white glass (bottom);
• Doors - Horizon aluminium sliding 4 lite panels with 6.38 mm frosted white glass; and
• Paragon aluminium fixed 4 lite panels with 6.38 mm clear laminated glass.
It should be noted that the above glazing specification should incorporate airtight seals for all
openable framing profile components to prevent degradation of acoustic performance. The
frame will need to be sealed into the building opening using a flexible sealant.
Where acoustic seals are nominated, this will require the use of acoustic seals around the full
perimeter of operable frames. These seals shall be equal to Schlegel Q‐Lon manufacture. It
is noted that mohair or mohair/plastic fin combination seals are not acceptable.
Roof/ceiling system
• Existing metal deck roof
• Insulation
• Plasterboard ceiling

5 NOISE CRITERIA
5.1 Operational Noise
The NSW Environment Protection Agency and local councils share responsibility for the
approval and control of noise emissions from commercial and industrial premises within
council boundaries.
There are no specific regulations or guidelines in the NSW EPA’s Noise Policy for Industry
(NPfI) or the Noise Guide for Local Government (NGLG) that cover the operation of a
mosque.

17081901J_R6

89

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

12

Following our discussion with the City of Sydney Council and based on their feedback,
general noise conditions relevant to noise breakout from the proposed new prayer hall are
outlined below.
Noise breakout from the proposed new prayer hall
The impact should be assessed and relevant compliance criteria applied based upon the
NSW EPA Noise Policy for Industry 2017, which recently replaced the Industrial Noise Policy
2000. This is likely to provide a stricter compliance targets with the changes in calculating
amenity criteria.
Any approval for the proposed car park enclosure would be required to demonstrate
compliance with the criteria below:
a) The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use must not exceed the background noise
level (LA90, 15minute) in any Octave Band Centre Frequency (31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive)
by more than 5 dB between the hours of 7 am and 12 midnight when assessed at the
boundary of any affected residence.
b) The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use must not exceed the background noise
level (LA90, 15 minute) in any Octave Band Centre Frequency (31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive)
between the hours of 12 midnight and 7 am when assessed at the boundary of any
affected residence.
c) Notwithstanding compliance with (a) and (b) above, noise from the use when assessed
as an LA10, 15 minute enters any residential use through an external to internal
transmission path is not to exceed the existing internal L A90, 15 minute (from external
sources excluding the use) in any Octave Band Centre Frequency (31.5 Hz to 8 kHz
inclusive) when assessed within a habitable room at any affected residential use
between the hours of 7am and 12 midnight. Where the LA10, 15 minute noise level is
below the threshold of hearing, Tf at any Octave Band Centre Frequency as defined
in Table 1 of International Standard ISO 226 : 2003- Normal Equal-Loudness-Level
Contours then the value of Tf corresponding to that Octave Band Centre Frequency
shall be used instead.
d) Notwithstanding compliance with (a), (b) and (c) above, the noise from the use must
not be audible within any habitable room in any residential use between the hours of
12 midnight and 7 am.
e) The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use must not exceed the background noise
level (LA90, 15 minute) in any Octave Band Centre Frequency (31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive)
by more than 3 dB when assessed indoors at any affected commercial premises.
Note: The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use is as per the definition in the
Australian Standard AS1055-1997 Acoustics – Description and measurement of
environmental noise. The background noise level L A90, 15 minute is to be determined in the
absence of noise emitted by the use and be representative of the noise sensitive receiver.
Background noise monitoring must be carried out in accordance with the long-term
methodology in Fact Sheet B of the NPfl unless otherwise agreed by the City’s Area Planning
Manager.

17081901J_R6

90

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

13

5.1.1 Existing Ambient Noise Environment
Several site inspections and measurements were conducted to determine current noise
levels. The measurements conducted include:
• Unattended noise measurements from 9 th of August 2017 to 16th of August 2017.
• Attended inspections and noise testing conducted on 9 th of August and 16th of August
2017.
The measurements were done in accordance with relevant OEH guidelines and AS 10551997 “Acoustics – Description and Measurement of Environmental Noise”. The noise logger
used complies with the requirements of AS 1259.2-2005 “Acoustics – Sound Level Meters”
and has current NATA calibration certification. All loggers were calibration checked at the
start and end of the noise-logging interval with a Casella Cel-120 Sound Level Calibrator.
There was no significant change in calibration at any of the loggers.
Measurement Locations
Figure 3 details the measurement locations.
Figure 3 Measurement locations

Unattended noise and vibration measurement location
Attended noise measurement locations

17081901J_R6

91

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

14

Unattended Measurements
Due to site access, a noise logger could not be placed at the nearest residential receivers.
The noise logger was located on the roof above the courtyard as shown in Figure 4. The
noise logger was located close to the potentially most affected residential noise receiver at
930 Bourke Street, Zetland. The house at this property is located adjacent to the project’s
site boundary. The next nearest residence would be to the south-east at 876 Elizabeth
Street, Zetland. This residence is 5 - 6 m from the common boundary with the project’s site.
It is expected that the noise logger location selected is representative of the ambient noise in
the whole of the local area, including all the potential noise receiver locations.

Figure 4 Aerial photographs of noise logger location

17081901J_R6

92

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

15

9 August 2019

Ambient LAeq and the background noise levels (RBL) L A90, obtained from the logger, are
summarised in Table 1. The data was filtered for potentially spurious results caused by
adverse weather conditions. The raw data for the unattended noise monitoring is presented
in Appendix A. It should be noted that the day-time RBLs have not been impacted by
neighbouring construction noise as the local traffic noise was dominating the ambient levels
in the area. This was confirmed whilst attended measurements were undertaken and after
the analysis of the logger recordings (wave file).
Table 1 Unattended monitoring results

Location
Site

Day

Evening

Night

48 dB(A), L90

43 dB(A), L90

40 dB(A), L90*

59 dB(A), Leq, 15 minute

54 dB(A), Leq, 15 minute

52 dB(A), Leq, 15 minute*

*The applicable period of the night that was considered in the processing of the results was
6am - 7am. This is the only period that the mosque would be operating during the night period
(10pm - 7am).

Attended Measurements
The attended monitoring results are summarised in Table 2.

17081901J_R6

93

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

16

9 August 2019

Table 2 Short-term noise measurements

Measured Noise Level, dB(A)
Leq,15minute

L90

Navins Lane

62

57

Site - Car park

62

56

Measurement Location

5.2 Project Noise Criteria
The rating background noise levels were determined to be:
• daytime: 48 dB(A)
• evening: 43 dB(A)
• night-time: 40 dB(A).
The residential area is zoned R4 High Density Residential. The noise in the area is
dominated by traffic noise due to main roads, and some industrial noise was audible for all
assessment periods. The land zoning, the subjective assessment of the acoustic NPfI
environment in the area, and the acquired background noise levels would support an urban
residential land-use category with reference to Table 2.3 in the NPfI.
The amenity and intrusiveness noise levels were determined as shown in Table 3, derived as
per procedures in the NPfI.
Table 3 Project noise trigger levels

1

Period

Intrusiveness noise level1
Leq, (15 min) dB(A)

Amenity noise level2
Leq, (Period) dB(A)

Daytime

53 LAeq,15min (48 + 5)

58 LAeq,5min (60 – 5 + 3)

Evening

48 LAeq,15min (43 + 5)

48 LAeq,15min (50 – 5 + 3)

Night-time

45 LAeq,15min (40 + 5)

43 LAeq,15min (45 – 5 + 3)

. Intrusiveness noise level is LAeq,15min ≤ RBL + 5 (Section 2.1 of the NPfI).

Project amenity noise level (ANL) is urban ANL (Table 2.1) minus 5 dB(A) plus 3 dB(A) to convert
from a period level to a 15-minute level (dB = decibel; dB[A] = decibel [A-weighted]; RBL = rating
background noise level).
2

17081901J_R6

94

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

17

The project noise trigger level is the lower (that is, the most stringent) value of the
intrusiveness and amenity noise levels. Therefore, the project noise trigger levels are as
presented in table below.
Table 4 Project trigger noise level
Period

Project noise trigger level,
Leq (15 min), dB(A)

Day

53*

Evening

48*

Night

43*

* Special events include the Eid prayer (occurring in the Day Period between 7:30 and 8:30am) and the Taraweeh
(occurring in the Evening Period between 9:00 – 10:00pm). Because they are ‘one event in any 24-hour period’
modifying factors for the duration adjustment in C1 of the NSW EPA NPfI are applicable. Therefore, an increase
in acceptable noise level at receivers of 5dB(A) for the day and evening and NILL for the night has been applied.
It has been assumed that the duration of noise during these events will be between 15 minutes and 1 hour.

5.3 Car Park
The assessment of noise from vehicles associated with a development is covered by the
NPfI if those vehicles are not on a public road. An example of this is vehicles using the car
park or the driveway of the development.
The assessment of car park and driveway noise as a result of this use has, therefore, been
carried out against the NPfI project specific noise level for day (68 dB(A) Leq, 15 min) as this is
the time period where the car park will have the most use and for night (43 dB(A) Leq, 15 min) as
this is the time period with the most stringent criterion. For the current assessment night
refers to the early morning operations at the mosque (5 am - 7 am).

5.4 Sleep Disturbance
For activities that take place after 10pm and before 7am, there is the potential for sleep
arousal to occur within nearby residential dwellings. The OEH recommends that 1-minute L1
noise levels (effectively, the Lmax noise level from car movements, car doors etc.) should not
exceed the background level by more than 15 dB(A) when measured/computed at the
outside of a bedroom window. The “sleep disturbance” criterion is only applicable to nighttime operations.
Based on the measured night-time background noise levels the sleep disturbance criterion is
set at 60 dB(A) L1, 1 min.
Another reference to applicable sleep disturbance criteria has been made to the document
“Environmental Criteria for Road Traffic Noise” published the NSW EPA. This document has
compared several sleep disturbance criteria and concluded the following:
• Maximum internal noise levels below 50 - 55 dB(A) are unlikely to cause awakening
reactions,
• One or two noise events per night, with maximum internal noise levels of 65 - 70 dB(A)
are not likely to affect health and wellbeing significantly.
17081901J_R6

95

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

18

It is generally accepted in the acoustic community that internal noise levels in conventional
dwellings with the windows open are generally 10 dB(A) lower than external noise levels.
Based on these NSW EPA findings, a noise level of 60 - 65 dB(A) outside an open bedroom
window would be unlikely to cause awakening reactions.

6 PREDICTED NOISE EMISSIONS–IMPACT ON ADJOINING PROPERTY AREAS
6.1 Mosque
The major potential for noise impacts from the prayer times comes from worshipers arriving
and departing the mosque and the amplified voice of the Imam during the sermon and the
prayers. There is to be no amplified calls to prayer associated with the mosque.
To assess those potential noise impacts, expected noise levels inside and outside the
mosque have been sourced from the Telemetrix database.
Patron Noise
Worshipers arriving at the mosque generally do so in an orderly and quiet manner. It is
anticipated that some worshipers may also congregate briefly, in small groups, in the carpark
area.
On Fridays, Jumma prayer will replace Dhuhr prayer and will have over 100 worshipers.
There will be two big celebrations per year where congregations of up to 150 worshipers are
expected, it is expected that there will generally be up to 10 worshipers at most of the prayer
sessions. Therefore, to determine potential noise impacts from worshipers arriving and
departing at the mosque, a scenario was assessed where noise source, representing a
group of 10 worshipers speaking at conversation level, was located near the centre of the
carpark.
Noise model has been developed for the calculation of patron’s sound levels from
conversations. The vocal effort used by individual crowd members has direct impact upon
the amount of crowd noise generated. Adjustment were made for the maximum number of
worshipers in an area.
Table 5 Description of vocal effort at various speech levels (A-weighted SPL in 1 m in front of
the mouth3

Vocal effort

Speech Level
dB(A)

Relaxed, normal

54

Normal, raised

60

Raised

66

3

Adapted from Table 3, “Prediction of verbal communication in noise – a review: Part 1”, Applied Acoustics,
vol.19 pp.439-464

17081901J_R6

96

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

19

Loud

72

Shouting

84

15 minutes average for one patron at 1 meter4

54

15 minutes average for 10 worshipers at 1
meter5

64

During the special events, Eid (2 days per year) and Taraweeh, which occurs for 30
continuous days (once per year), over 100 worshipers will visit the site. To minimise the
noise impact at the nearest receivers, a scenario was assessed where the maximum number
of worshipers in the carpark will be limited to 10 worshipers. This is to represent the scenario
prior to, and at the completion of, the prayer.
Table 6 and Table 7 show the results of calculations of noise from the worshipers in the
carpark impacting on nearest receivers. The calculation includes the acoustic barrier effects
of the mosque building (where applicable).
Table 6 Calculated impact noise levels (10 worshipers) – 930 Bourke Street, Zetland
Resultant sound level in dBA,
15 minute average
15 minutes average for 10 worshipers in the carpark at 1 meter (Leq, 15 min)

64

Distance attenuation from the carpark, average distance 6 m

16

Barrier attenuation due to building shielding

Direct line of sight – no attenuation

Predicted noise level from the carpark at the receiver

48

4

Sound pressure level for relaxed, normal conversations was used for calculations

5

54+10log(10)

17081901J_R6

97

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

20

Table 7 Calculated impact noise levels (10 worshipers) – 876 Elizabeth Street, Zetland
Resultant sound level in dBA,
15 minute average
15 minutes average for 10 worshipers in the carpark at 1 meter (Leq 15 min)

64

Distance attenuation from the carpark, average distance 15 m

24

Barrier attenuation due to building shielding

Direct line of sight – no attenuation

Predicted noise level from the carpark at the receiver

40

The results in Table 6 and Table 7 show that the criteria will be met for all periods at
Elizabeth Street receivers and exceeded for the night-time period at Bourke Street. This can
be managed by limiting the worshipers to use the carpark for a discussion area during the
night-time period.
Since the large number of worshipers visiting the premise will occur only twice a year during
the day-time period only, it is our view that with the noise management controls outlined in
Section 6.3, the adverse impacts onto the nearest receivers are unlikely.
Noise from the Main Prayer Room
The prayer is usually delivered using amplified equipment, located inside the building, to
ensure it can be heard throughout the congregation. It was assumed that there would be no
speakers outside of the mosque building.
It was also assumed that the current setup has individual speakers mounted at the front of
the room, near the Imam.
As per construction details outlined in Section 4.1 it was assumed that the prayer hall
facades are constructed of glazing panels. Dimensions, orientation and materials of the
various building elements were considered during the calculations.
Please note that although during special events (Eid - two days per year and Taraweeh once per year) will have over 100 worshipers visiting the site, the prayer is usually delivered
using amplified equipment, so Iman would be the only person speaking during the prayer
session regardless of number of worshipers inside the prayer room.
Table 8 shows calculation of noise during the prayer, impacting on the receiver at 930
Bourke Street, Zetland.

17081901J_R6

98

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

21

9 August 2019

Table 8 Calculation of noise during the prayer - 930 Bourke Street, Zetland

Octave Band Centre Frequency, Hz

Overall level,
dB(A)

63

125

250

500

1k

2k

4k

Source (Prayer in Mosque Leq
15 min) – based on REDBACK
model No. C0917A

76

80

87

89

90

90

85

Rw of 6.38 mm glazing – main
prayer room facade

18

21

25

30

34

35

42

Off-axis reduction (90º)

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

Shielding from the existing
building

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

Distance attenuation – 16 m

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

Predicted noise level at the
receiver

18

19

22

19

16

15

3

26

Measured background
night-time noise level
between 5-7 am

30

33

35

33

32

30

25

40

86

Table 9 shows calculation of noise during the prayer, impacting on the receiver at 876
Elizabeth Street, Zetland.

17081901J_R6

99

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

22

9 August 2019

Table 9 Calculation of noise during the prayer - 876 Elizabeth Street, Zetland

Octave Band Centre Frequency, Hz
63
Source Lw (Prayer in Mosque
Leq 15 min) - based on
REDBACK speaker system
model No. C0917A

76

125
80

250
87

500
89

1k
90

2k
90

Overall
level, dB(A)
4k

85

86

Rw of 6.38 mm glazing – main
prayer room facade

18

21

25

30

34

35

42

Proposed solid boundary
wall*

10+

10+

10+

10+

10+

10+

10+

Distance attenuation – 8 m

18

18

18

18

18

18

18

Predicted noise level at the
receiver

30

31

34

31

28

27

15

38

Measured background
night-time noise level
between 5-7 am

30

33

35

33

32

30

25

40

* It has been assumed that the proposed solid boundary wall on the southern side with direct
view to Elizabeth street residence, will extend to the same height as the main prayer room
façade wall. The top component of the proposed boundary wall could be constructed of a
transparent material to satisfy the lighting requirements.
The results above indicate that, under the assessed conditions, the noise emissions from the
assessed operation of the mosque will meet the night-time noise criterion at all receivers.

6.2 Car park activities
The worst case for noise generation from the car park would be close to the beginning or end
of the prayers when the largest number of worshipers is likely to be using the car park.
Noise in car parks typically comes from people walking to and from cars, doors opening and
closing, etc., as well as vehicles moving at slow speeds. Each noise event is characterised
by a brief peak which, when averaged out over a 15-minute period has a relatively low Leq.
The impact of each noise event on any single receiver is also variable depending upon the
location of individual cars within a car park and as they move in and out. In addition to this,
worshipers arriving or departing a mosque would normally be expected to do so in a
relatively quiet and orderly fashion.
Typical noise levels from car parks have been sourced from the Telemetrix technical
database and noise from the car park has been modelled in accordance with
Recommendations for the calculation of sound emissions of parking areas, motorcar centers
17081901J_R6

100

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

23

and bus stations as well as of multi-storey car parks and underground car parks 6th Edition
(Bavarian Landesamt für Umwelt 2007).
Table 10 details typical car and patron noise levels measured at 10 meters. A “Normal”
vehicle can be described as “a vehicle being driven in a sensible manner.” Voices consist of
general laughter and raised conversation.
Table 10 Typical car and noise levels

Noise Source

Typical Noise Levels
Leq

Lmax,

“Normal car” at 10 m

50 dB(A) for 5
vehicles

60 - 67 dB(A)

Voices at 10 m

50 - 55 dB(A)

60 - 70 dB(A)

Car activity noise on this site will consist of cars braking, doors slamming and accelerating
away from a stationary position, as well as general noise from worshipers talking within the
car parking area.
The predicted noise associated with the existing car-parking activities for 5 parking spaces
has been summarised in Table 11.
Table 11 Predicted Car Park Noise Levels at the Nearest Residences

Noise source

930 Bourke Street

876 Elizabeth Street

Car activity

47 dB(A), Leq
60 - 67 dB(A), Lmax

44 dB(A), Leq
55 - 60 dB(A), Lmax

Patron voices

50 - 55 dB(A), Leq
60 - 70 dB(A) Lmax

45 - 50 dB(A), Leq
50 - 60 dB(A) Lmax

The results in Table 11 show that there is a potential to exceed the sleep disturbance
criterion (6 am – 7 am) at Bourke Street receiver due to the assessed noise emissions from
the carpark activity. It is unlikely that the predicted exceedance of the sleep disturbance
criteria at Bourke Street receiver will have a significant impact. This conclusion is based on
the document “Environmental Criteria for Road Traffic Noise” published by the NSW EPA,
which states that: ‘maximum internal noise levels below 50 – 55 dB(A) are unlikely to cause
awakening reactions, and one or two noise events per night, with maximum internal noise
levels of 65 – 70 dB(A) are not likely to affect health and wellbeing significantly.
17081901J_R6

101

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

24

It is generally accepted in the acoustic community that internal noise levels in conventional
dwellings with the windows open are generally 10 dB(A) lower than external noise levels.
Based on this, the predicted maximum internal noise levels at the nearest receiver at Bourke
Street is 50-60 dB(A). In accordance with the NSW EPA findings, a noise level of 60-70
dB(A) outside an open bedroom window would be unlikely to cause awakening reactions or
affect health and wellbeing significantly.

6.3 Recommendations/noise management controls
The results show that some operational aspects of the mosque (worshipers gathering in the
courtyard area and car park activities) have a potential to exceed the criteria during the night
time only (6 am – 7 am). It should be noted that the only Fajr prayer will commence from 6
am with low number of worshipers visiting the site during the prayer, estimate of 5 - 20
worshipers. All other prayers will occur during the day and evening periods including special
events (Eid - two days per year and Taraweeh - once per year) where there will be over 100
worshipers visiting the site.
In order to minimise the noise impact onto nearest surrounding receivers and potentially
meet the night-time project criteria the following noise control measures should be
considered and incorporated:
• Installation of a noise barrier on the north-eastern boundary. It is worth noting that the
level of attenuation of all outdoor barriers is affected by a variety of factors including
end diffraction, angle of diffraction, line of sight from a source to a receiver, wind
direction, humidity and temperature. The expected reduction would be 12 - 15 dB(A).
The height of the barrier would need to extend such that it blocks the direct line of
sight between the receiver and the carpark. Considering the nearest residential
properties are double storey buildings, the barrier would need to extend close to the
roof level;
In general, the following materials could be used for noise barriers:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Steel (painted, galvanized, stainless)
Aluminium
Polycarbonate or acrylic sheets
Concrete, brick or glass fibre reinforced concrete (GRC)
Proprietary-made acoustic panels

It is recommended that advice for non-acoustical considerations of barrier design
such as structural integrity etc, should be sought from other experts.
• As a management tool in discussion with the Mosque Coordinator, one option is for the
carpark to remain closed till 8 am to minimise the noise impact to nearest sensitive
receivers;
• Signs to be posted on the wall of the carpark and in the prayers hall to remind the
worshipers to respect the amenity of the nearest residential receivers.
• Manage the worshipers to use only the enclosed rooms for discussions and meetings
with fully closed doors. Instruct the worshipers not to use the carpark for meetings
and discussions. Considering that the proposed new plan limits the outside courtyard,
it is likely that even during the pray times with large congregations, most worshipers
will occupy the enclosed rooms; and
17081901J_R6

102

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

25

• Limit the number of worshipers entering and exiting to 5 worshipers per entry/exit for
the night-time only (6 am - 7 am).
Considering that the project criteria is exceeded only during the night-time period when the
expected number of worshipers is very low (estimated 5 - 20) it is our view that the physical
noise barrier might not be the most feasible mitigation measure if we take into account the
height requirements for the barrier and also the visual aspect. It is our opinion that with the
noise management controls outlined below, the adverse impacts onto the nearest receivers
are unlikely.
Community consultation
Community consultation is essential particularly during the Jumaa, Eid and Taraweeh 'prayer
events'.
The following measures are recommended during the ‘prayer events:
• Inform potentially noise-affected neghbours about the nature of measures in place to
minimise the noise impact;
• Give notice as early as possible. Describe the activities and how long they are
expected to take;
• Keep affected neighbours informed of progress;
• Appoint a principal contact person for community queries;
• Provide 24-hour contact details through letters and site signage; and
• Record complaints and follow a complaint response procedure suitable to the scale of
events.
Planning/General
• Education on noise management responsibilities will be provided for staff;
• All personnel should be aware of the noise control measures;
• Worshipers arriving or departing a mosque with their vehicles would normally be
expected to do so in a relatively quiet and orderly fashion;
• Management personnel will use their best endeavours to ensure that worshipers
disperse in an orderly manner and that no worshipers associated with the mosque
congregate in the courtyard or in the surrounding area during the evening and night
periods;
• Management personnel will be responsible for ensuring that to their best endeavours
no disturbance occurs or emanates from the mosque which would be likely to cause a
nuisance to adjoining occupiers or cause detriment to the amenity of the
neighbourhood;
• Manage the worshiper to use only the enclosed rooms for discussions and meetings
with fully closed doors;
17081901J_R6

103

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

26

• Instruct the worshipers not to use the carpark for meetings and discussions;
• Limiting the number of worshipers entering and exiting to 5 worshipers per entry/exit for
the night time only (6 am – 7 am); and
• No external sound amplification equipment or loud speakers are to be used for the
purpose of announcement, broadcast, and similar purpose.
Complaints and Response
Complaints handling procedure should be set by the facility management. The procedure
should include the following minimum information:
• Time, day and date of complaint being received and relevant information about the
reason for the complaint, including the time, day and date the complainant was
disturbed by noise.
• Contact details for the complainant, including full name and contact details.
• Details of when and how the complaint was addressed, including any operational,
procedural or engineering measures introduced to reduce noise emissions.
• Details of follow-up with the complainant, including date, day and time of any meetings,
phone calls, etc. A record of the complainant’s response to the follow-up should be
kept.

7 CONCLUSION
Telemetrix was commissioned by Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc. to prepare
another revised acoustic report as part of additional information for Development Application
No: D/2018/1138 for a place of worship at 932-934 Bourke Street, Zetland, NSW.
City of Sydney Council have reviewed the first revised acoustic report submitted, and
requested additional information that relate to:
• Noise from persons leaving and entering the premises;
• Noise from the new prayer hall. All prayers will be conducted within the proposed new
prayer hall, however there are issues with an increase of persons coming and going
to the premises (with access from the large carpark).
The following items have been addressed and updated in this version of the report:
• The noise criteria have been updated in accordance with the NSW EPA Nose Policy for
Industry (NPfI), which recently replaced the Industrial Noise Policy 2000. This is likely
to provide a stricter compliance targets with the changes in calculating amenity
criteria particularly for the night-time operation.

17081901J_R6

104

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

27

• Section 6.3 of the submitted Acoustic Report discussed the possibility of perhaps
providing a large barrier in the large car park. However, as recommended by the City
of Sydney Council, Telemetrix has explored the option of a smaller / less intrusive
barrier to provide additional attenuation to protect the residential amenity of the
adjacent property at 930 Elizabeth St.
Recommendations and noise management controls have been proposed in order to
minimise adverse impacts.

17081901J_R6

105

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

28

Appendix A
Raw Data – Unattended Monitoring

17081901J_R6

106

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

107

Sound Pressure Level, dB(A)

9 August 2019

LAeq,15minute
LA90, 15 minute
17081901J_R6

29

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

30

17081901J_R6

108

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

31

17081901J_R6

109

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

32

17081901J_R6

110

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

33

17081901J_R6

111

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

34

17081901J_R6

112

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

35

17081901J_R6

113

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

36

17081901J_R6

114

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

37

17081901J_R6

115

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

38

17081901J_R6

116

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

39

17081901J_R6

117

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

40

17081901J_R6

118

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

41

17081901J_R6

119

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

42

17081901J_R6

120

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils Inc.

9 August 2019

Place of Worship
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment

43

17081901J_R6

121

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

APPENDIX B
TRAFFIC AND PARKING IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Page122
6

ENVIRECCO

Traffic and Parking Assessment
932-934 Bourke St Zetland

Envirecco Pty Ltd
Suite 164, Shop 6, 197-205 Church Street Parramatta NSW 2150
admin@envirecco.com.au | www.envirecco.com.au
Ph : 02 9430 6874
ACN: 616 330 422 | ABN: 20 616 330 422
123

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

Prepared for:

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
PO Box 331
Waterloo NSW 2017
Ph: 02 8303 2100

Prepared by:

Author:

Envirecco Pty Ltd
Suite 164, Shop 6,
197-205 Church Street
Parramatta NSW 2150
Ph: 02 9430 6874

Mr. Daoud Salamah
Adv.DipMechEngT/Assoc.DegPwrEng
Engineering Consultant

Report Number:

ENV131

DOCUMENT CONTROL
Version Number
1

Date of Release

Comments

Page Number(s)

10th September 2018

Original

N/A

DISCLAIMER:
This report is only valid in its entire form. Unauthorised reproduction or copying is strictly
prohibited. Envirecco Pty Ltd has prepared this document and information herein specifically
for the purposes of the client in accordance with general professional consulting standards.
The findings of this document apply specifically to this project only and are based partially on
advice provided by the client. The scope of works was conducted in accordance with the scope
of the project brief only. The document may not contain sufficient information for the purposes
of other than the client, and no other warranty is made as to the professional advice in this
report.

124

Page 1 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLES ............................................................................................................................ 3
LIST OF FIGURES .......................................................................................................................... 3
1.0
INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................. 4
1.1
Limitations ...................................................................................................................... 4
2.0
BACKGROUND INFORMATION .......................................................................................... 6
2.1
SITE LOCATION AND SURROUNDING LAND USE..................................................... 6
2.2
ROAD NETWORK AND CLASSIFICATION ................................................................... 7
2.3
ROAD DESCRIPTION AND TRAFFIC CONTROL ........................................................ 8
2.3.1
BOURKE STREET .................................................................................................. 8
2.3.2
ELIZABETH STREET .............................................................................................. 8
2.3.3
NAVINS LANE ......................................................................................................... 8
3.0
LEGAL AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS ................................................................................ 9
3.1
LEGISLATION, GUIDELINES AND STANDARDS......................................................... 9
4.0
EXISTING ENVIRONMENT ............................................................................................... 10
4.1
VEHICULAR & PEDESTRIAN ACCESS ...................................................................... 10
4.2
OF-SITE PARKING ...................................................................................................... 10
4.3
ON-SITE PARKING ...................................................................................................... 10
4.2
TRAFFIC ...................................................................................................................... 11
4.3
TRANSPORTATION SERVICES ................................................................................. 13
5.0
TRAFFIC AND PARKING CRITERIA .................................................................................. 14
5.1
TRAFFIC CRITERIA ..................................................................................................... 14
PARKING CRITERIA .................................................................................................... 14
5.2
6.0
TRAFFIC/PARKING IMPACT ASSESSMENT ..................................................................... 15
6.1
TRAFFIC IMPACT ........................................................................................................ 15
6.2
PARKING IMPACT ....................................................................................................... 15
6.1.1
ON-SITE PARKING ............................................................................................... 15
6.1.2
OFF-STREET PARKING ....................................................................................... 16
SPECIAL EVENTS ....................................................................................................... 16
6.2
7.0
DISCUSSION ..................................................................................................................... 17
8.0
RECOMMENDATIONS ...................................................................................................... 18
APPENDIX A – FLOOR PLANS ..................................................................................................... 19
APPENDIX B – TRAFFIC VOLUME COUNTS ................................................................................ 20

125

Page 2 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

LIST OF TABLES
Table 1: Traffic Counts at the corner of Bourke and Elizabeth Street Zetland - 18.08.2017....... 12
Table 2: Urban road peak hour flows per direction ..................................................................... 12

LIST OF FIGURES
Figure 1: Site Location – 932-934 Bourke Street Zetland ............................................................. 6
Figure 2: Site area calculation ...................................................................................................... 6
Figure 3: Site location and roads .................................................................................................. 7
Figure 4: Traffic Volume Counts – 18th August 2017 .................................................................. 21
Figure 5: Time Period and Traffic Volume Counts – 18th August 2017 ....................................... 22
Figure 6: Changes in Traffic Volume Counts over time– 18th August 2017 ................................ 23

126

Page 3 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

1.0 INTRODUCTION
This report has been prepared for the Australian Federation of Islamic Councils to assess traffic
and parking issues with the proposed development application, a place of public worship at 932934 Bourke Street Zetland. The site was granted consent by South Sydney Council in 1990 to be
used as a place of public worship.
The proposed development will include:


an existing two-storey building with a prayer room having a floor area of 350 square
metres



administrative offices and associated amenities on the first floor



Existing on-site car parking area for a total of 10 parking spaces (3 for staff and 7 for
visitors)



A proposed bicycle storage facility for 9 bicycles

Expected maximum patronage:


Normal daily prayers between 5 to 20 patrons



Friday afternoon main weekly prayers (between 12:30pm – 1:30pm) over 100 patrons



Special event ‘Taraweeh prayers’ during the month of Ramadan (one month in the year)
100 - 150 patrons



Special Event ‘Eid’ (twice per year) 100 - 150 patrons.

1.1 LIMITATIONS

This report and the associated services performed by Envirecco Pty Ltd are in accordance with
the scope of services set out in the contract between Envirecco P/L and the Client. The scope of
services was defined by the requests of the Client.
In preparing this report, Envirecco P/L has relied upon, and presumed accurate, certain
information (or absence thereof) provided by government authorities, the Client and others
identified herein. Except as otherwise stated in the report, Envirecco P/L has not attempted to
verify the accuracy or completeness of any such information.

127

Page 4 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
Envirecco Pty Ltd
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
ENV131
No warranty, undertaking, or guarantee, whether expressed or implied, is made with respect to
the data reported or to the findings, observations, conclusions and recommendations expressed
in

this

report.

Furthermore,

such

data,

findings,

observations,

conclusions

and

recommendations are based solely upon existence at the time of the investigation. The passage
of time, manifestation of latent conditions or impacts of future events (e.g. changes in
legislation, scientific knowledge, land uses, etc) may require further investigation at the site with
subsequent data analysis and re-evaluation of the findings, observations, conclusions and
recommendations expressed in this report.
This report has been prepared on behalf of and for the exclusive use of the Client, and is subject
to and issued in connection with the provisions of the agreement between Envirecco P/L and the
Client. Envirecco P/L accepts no liability or responsibility whatsoever and expressly disclaims
any responsibility for or in respect of any use of or reliance upon this report by any third party or
parties.

It is the responsibility of the Client to accept if the Client so chooses any

recommendations contained within and implement them in an appropriate, suitable and timely
manner.

128

Page 5 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

2.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION
2.1 SITE LOCATION AND SURROUNDING LAND USE

The site is located at 932-934 Bourke Street Zetland and is bounded by Bourke Street to the
north, McPherson Lane to the south and Elizabeth Street to the west of the site (see Figure 1).
The site is surrounded by a mixture of commercial and residential properties. The site has an
area of approximately 912 square metres (Figure 2). 1 The site is currently occupied with a two
storey building with an off-street car parking area.

Figure 1: Site Location – 932-934 Bourke Street Zetland 2

Figure 2: Site area calculation
1

Calculated using the area tool in SIX Maps. NSW Department of Finance and Services Spatial Information
eXchange
2
Google Maps 2018

129

Page 6 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

2.2 ROAD NETWORK AND CLASSIFICATION

Bourke Street is a collector road that runs northeast and south west between Botany Road (state
road) and Campbell Street (local road). It intersects with local roads including Elizabeth Street
(collector road) at the site boundary. Elizabeth street runs north and south and intersects with
Navins Lane at the rear of the site. Navins Lane runs parallel with Bourke Street. Navins Lane
provides vehicular access to the rear of the site. See Figure 3.

Figure 3: Site location and roads

130

Page 7 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

2.3 ROAD DESCRIPTION AND TRAFFIC CONTROL
2.3.1 BOURKE STREET

Bourke Street is a four lane, two-way undivided road with a width between kerbs of
approximately 13 metres. These four lanes provide two travel lanes per direction. ‘No Stopping’
restrictions apply on both sides of the street and along the frontage of the subject site/ On-street
parking is permitted in sections on both sides of the street further east of the site and outside of
the signposted ‘No Stopping 3:00pm -7:00pm Mon-Fri’ restrictions. The legal speed limit on
Bourke Street is 60km/h. The intersection of Bourke Street with Elizabeth Street is controlled by
traffic signals, where ‘No Right Turn’ restrictions apply for westbound traffic along Bourke
Street.

2.3.2 ELIZABETH STREET
Elizabeth Street is a four lane, two way undivided road, with a width between kerbs of
approximately 10 metres. These four lanes generally provide two travel lanes per direction. ‘No
Stopping’ restrictions apply on both sides of the street outside of the subject site. Restricted ‘2P
8:00am – 6:00pm Permit Holders Excepted’ restrictions apply further south of the subject site
along both sides of Elizabeth Street. The legal speed limit on Elizabeth Street, north of Bourke
Street is 50km/h and south of Bourke Street is 40km/h. The intersection of Elizabeth Street
with Bourke Street is controlled by traffic signals, where ‘No Right Turn’ restrictions apply to
northbound traffic along Elizabeth Street.

2.3.3 NAVINS LANE
Navins Lane is a two way undivided laneway with a width between kerbs of approximately 4.5
metres. On-street parking in the laneway is not feasible due to the narrow carriageway. The
laneway provides vehicular access to the rear of adjoining properties, including the subject site.
The legal speed limit on Navins Lane is 50km/h. The intersection of Navins Lane with Elizabeth
Street has ‘Give Way’ controls, with priority given to traffic travelling along Elizabeth Street.

131

Page 8 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

3.0 LEGAL AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS
3.1 LEGISLATION, GUIDELINES AND STANDARDS

The following documents have been used in preparation of this management plan:
•

City of Sydney Local Environment Plan 2012

•

City of Sydney Development Control Plan 2012

•

Roads and Maritime Services; ‘Guide to Traffic Generating Developments’ 2002

132

Page 9 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

4.0 EXISTING ENVIRONMENT
4.1 VEHICULAR & PEDESTRIAN ACCESS

Vehicular access to and from the site is from Navins Lane. All vehicular access is to be located in
accordance with AS2890.1:2004, where adequate sight distance is provided. A separate
pedestrian access to the site will be provided from Elizabeth Street. This segregates pedestrian
and vehicular movements to improve safety on the site.

4.2 OF -SITE PARKING

The site is located in a mixed residential and commercial area. There are ‘No Stopping’
restrictions on both sides of Bourke Street. Restricted parking is available on Bourke Street in
close proximity to the site, signposted as ‘No Stopping 3pm-7pm Mon-Fri.’
There are ‘No Stopping’ restrictions on both sides of Elizabeth Street. Restricted parking is
available on Elizabeth Street in close proximity to the site, signposted as ‘2P 8am – 6pm Permit
Holders Excepted.’ Unrestricted parking is available on the northern side of Elizabeth Street.
‘No Parking’ restrictions apply to the southern area of Elizabeth Street. Parking is not feasible in
the rear laneway due to its narrow carriageway.

4.3 ON-SITE PARKING

Australian Standard AS2890.1:2004 Parking Facilities Part 1: Off-street car parking requires a
minimum car parking space width of 2.4 metres and a minimum length of 5.4 metres. The
proposed off-street car parking spaces have a width of 2.4 metres and a length of 5.4 metres
each, which is in accordance with the standards.
Car parking spaces adjacent to walls or obstructions have been made wider than the minimum
width, to accommodate full door opening in accordance with Clause 2.4.4(d) of AS2890.1:2004.
AS2890.1:2004 requires a minimum aisle width of 5.8 metres for two-way aisles. The existing
traffic aisle has a width of 6.1 metres, which is in accordance with the standards. The on-site

133

Page 10 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
Envirecco Pty Ltd
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW
ENV131
parking area provides adequate aisle width, for vehicles to manoeuver into and out of the 90
degree parking spaces and exit the site in a forward direction.
The existing on-site parking layout, vehicle manoeuvering and circulation arrangement are
adequate. Vehicles can enter and exit the site in a forward direction.

4.2 TRAFFIC

A search of the Traffic Volume Viewer (TVV) from the NSW Roads and Maritime Services near
the site identified station 02309 O’riordan Street Alexandria in close proximity to the site. The
traffic volume counter is located 100m north of Johnson Street on O’riordon Street and
approximately 500m 3 south west of the site. O’riordon street connects to Bourke Street and
Botany Road. The TVV was used to analyse if there was a significant increase in traffic volumes
from the 18/8/2017 at the time of the traffic counts to date. A comparison of 2017 traffic
volumes and 2018 traffic volumes shows comparable traffic volumes with no increase in
northbound or southbound volumes. Therefore the data supplied by ROAR data is comparable
to current traffic levels at the site and adequate for this study.
The traffic volume/intersection counts were undertaken by ROAR Data Pty Ltd at the
intersection of Bourke Street and Elizabeth Street at the site on Friday 18th August 2017,
between 12:00pm and 2:00pm, due to the proposed peak hours of use of the proposed
development. The traffic flows can be seen in Table 1.

3

Rough estimation using visual observation and the distance tool in SIX Maps. NSW Department of Finance and
Services Spatial Information eXchange

134

Page 11 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

Table 1: Traffic Counts at the corner of Bourke and Elizabeth Street Zetland - 18.08.2017

Traffic movement

Bourke Street
Eastbound
Westbound
Elizabeth Street
Northbound
Southbound

Vehicles per hour
between
12:00-14:00 on
the18.08.17

Level of Service as per
RMS urban road peak
hour flows

517
617

C

411
274

B

Based on the RMS Guide to Traffic Generating Developments, the level of service for Bourke
Street is C and for Elizabeth Street is B. The urban road peak hour flows per direction, to classify
the level of service, can be seen in Table 2 from the RMS. The level of service is considered good
to satisfactory with the average delay between 28 to 42 seconds per vehicle.
Table 2: Urban road peak hour flows per direction 4

Level of Service
A
B
C
D
E

One Lane (veh/hr)
200
380
600
900
1400

Note
Level of service criteria for intersections:
A = good operation
B = good with acceptable delays and spare capacity
C = Satisfactory
D = operating near capacity
E = at capacity
Average delay per vehicle:
A = <14 seconds/vehicle
B = 15-28 seconds/vehicle
C = 29-42 seconds/vehicle
D = 43-56 seconds/vehicle
E = 57-70 seconds/vehicle
4

RMS Guide to Traffic Generating Developments 2002. RTA Version 2.2

135

Page 12 of 23

Two Lanes (veh/hr)
900
1400
1800
2200
2800

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

4.3 TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

The site is well serviced with public transportation services and is located in close proximity to
Green Square railway station and the bus service on Elizabeth Street (bus route 343).

136

Page 13 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

5.0 TRAFFIC AND PARKING CRITERIA
5.1 TRAFFIC CRITERIA

Good to satisfactory (A to C) level of service as per Roads and Maritime Services; ‘Guide to
Traffic Generating Developments’ 2002.

5.2 PARKING CRITERIA

Sydney LEP 2012, in part 7, division 1, requires that places of public worship provide the
following number of car spaces (whichever provides the greater number of spaces):


1 space for every 10 seats; or



1 space for every 30 square metres of the gross floor area of the building used for those
purposes

Sydney DCP 2012 requires the following:


1 bicycle space for every 15 seats; or



1 bicycle space for every 40 square metres of gross floor area

This equates to 12 parking spaces and 9 bicycle spaces.

137

Page 14 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

6.0 TRAFFIC/PARKING IMPACT ASSESSMENT
6.1 TRAFFIC IMPACT

There is no traffic generation rate for places of worship under the RMS Guide to Traffic
Generating Development. The majority of patrons visiting the site will be from neighbouring
businesses and will unlikely travel by car. The majority of visitors will be walking or using the
local bus network. Patrons tend to use car-pooling with other family members, friends or work
colleagues. It is estimated that approximately 15 – 20 vehicle trips will be made during Friday
afternoon prayers and significantly lower during other prayer times. The estimated traffic
generation is considered to be low and will not alter the current level of service on any of the
surrounding streets. The traffic generated by the use of the site can be readily accommodated by
the adjacent road network and remains well within the traffic capacity of those streets, with no
adverse traffic impacts to the area.

6.2 PARKING IMPACT
6.1.1 ON-SITE PARKING

The approximate area of the prayer rooms on the ground floor totals 350m2. 5 Therefore, 12 car
spaces and 9 bicycle parking spaces are needed. The parking area for visitors (directly adjoining
the mosque) onsite is approximately 25 metres. Based on AS2890.1:2004 minimum car parking
space width of 2.4 metres; a total of 7 car parking spaces can be allocated against the wall
adjoining the mosque at 45 degrees (refer to Appendix A for floor plans).
The entire length of the parking area is approximately 30 metres. An additional 4 car spaces can
be allocated on the boundary on the far side of the car park.
Therefore, a total of 11 car spaces can be accommodated in the car parking area.
Council’s requirements for off street parking are a total of 12 car spaces. With the addition of 4

5

Calculated using the area tool in SIX Maps. NSW Department of Finance and Services Spatial Information. Using
floor plans as a guide

138

Page 15 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

car spaces within on the northern side and modifications to the layout to meet Australian Standards
a total of 11 car spaces can be provided. Given that the on-site parking was noted to be moderate,
the site is consdered adequate for off street parking compliance.
6.1.2 OFF-STREET PARKING

ǤA parking survey was carried out by Hemanote Consulants on both sides of Bourke Street and
Elizabeth Street in a weekday (Friday), in order to determine the current parking utilization
levels of on-street parking spaces nearby the site. The parking utilisation survey was undertaken
at 30 minute intervals on Friday 18th August 2017, between 12:00pm and 2:00pm; during the
peak hours of use of the site. The parking survey determined that on-street parking spaces were
moderately to highly occupied in general, with some available parking opportunities around the
site. A comparison of 2017 traffic volumes and 2018 traffic volumes shows comparable traffic
volumes. Therefore the information supplied by Hemanote Consultants is comparable to current
levels at the site and adequate for this study.

6.2 SPECIAL EVENTS

The parking demand during special events can be accommodated by the off-street parking,
regular public transportation service and on-street parking in nearby streets, if required. The
twice yearly special event, ‘Eid’ occurs between 7:30am – 8:30am. It is expected that off-site
parking will be considerably less occupied than what was observed during the parking utilisation
study undertaken by Hemanote Consultants due to the early morning occurrence. Furthermore,
the ‘Taraweeh’ special event that occurs in the month of Ramadan is expected to occur between
9pm to 10pm, out of peak periods with expected low occupancy of off-site parking spaces.

139

Page 16 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

7.0 DISCUSSION
The traffic and parking impact of the site reveals no adverse impacts to the area and parking
provisions meet Council requirements. Furthermore, traffic generating from the development
will be minimal. Management of special events will alleviate any parking or traffic concerns to
the area.

140

Page 17 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that the parking line markups against the mosque wall be altered to 2.4
metres in width AT A 45 degree anglele to allow for 7 spaces. Furthermore, the length of car parking
spaces against the boundary wall should be 5.4 metres, to allow for 4 additional spaces.
Two to three staff members should patrol the site and surrounds in High Visibility gear, during
special events. These staff members should control movements of vehicles and ensure no
vehicles are illegally parked or obstructing driveways.
It is recommended that educational flyers be provided to patrons advising of safe parking and
traffic practices during special events. Furthermore, investigation into implementing a mini bus
service to elderly member of their community for special events.

141

Page 18 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

APPENDIX A – FLOOR PLANS

142

Page 19 of 23

6

5

4

3

2

1

D

D

ADMIN OFFICE

OFFICE

C

ADMIN OFFICE

C
BATH
ROOMS

BATH
ROOMS

BOARD
ROOM

143

COMPUTER
SERVER
ROOM

OFFICE

ADMIN OFFICE

B

B
KITCHEN/
LUNCHROOM

COURT YARD

RECEPTION

TITLE

A

THE AUSTRALIAN FEDERATION OF ISLAMIC COUNCILS INC.
932 Bourke St, Zetland, NSW 2015

FIRST FLOOR - 1:100

First Floor Plan
SIZE

DATE

A3
AA1 Drafting - 2/71 Connemarra St, Bexley, NSW 2207.
Ph: 0408 143 004

6

5

4

3

SCALE

DWG NO

09/08/17
as shown

2

DRAWN

REV

G17003

J.Mifsud

SHEET

0
2/2

1

A

144

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

APPENDIX B – TRAFFIC VOLUME COUNTS

145

Page 20 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

Figure 4: Traffic Volume Counts – 18th August 2017
(source: Hemanote Consultants - R.O.A.R DATA)

146

Page 21 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

Figure 5: Time Period and Traffic Volume Counts – 18th August 2017
(source: Hemanote Consultants - R.O.A.R DATA)

147

Page 22 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

Figure 6: Changes in Traffic Volume Counts over time– 18th August 2017
(source: Hemanote Consultants - R.O.A.R DATA)

148

Page 23 of 23

Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

Envirecco Pty Ltd
ENV131

ENVIRECCO ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES
Acoustic (Noise) and Vibration
Indoor Air Quality
Indoor Environmental Quality (indoor noise and lighting)
Odour and Ambient Air Quality
Traffic and Parking
Occupational Hygiene
HVAC Hygiene
Electro Magnetic Field (EMF)
Airborne and Surface Mould
Waste Classifications

Envirecco Pty Ltd
Suite 164, Shop 6, 197-205 Church Street Parramatta NSW 2150
admin@envirecco.com.au | www.envirecco.com.au
Ph: 02 9430 6874
ACN: 616 330 422 | ABN: 20 616 330 422

149

Page 24 of 23

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

APPENDIX C
TRAFFIC ACCESS GUIDE
(This document is also provide seperately)

Page 150
87

See overleaf for comprehensive map of access options to the Zetland Mosque.
A copy of the Shuttle Bus Brochure can be downloaded at:
https://accesssydney.org.au/village-to-village-free-shuttle-services/
A copy of the Train Network Map can be downloaded at:
www.airportlink.com.au/documents/network-map.pdf
The free shuttle will stop at all places listed above and any STA bus stop along the route. Please use times a a guide only.
Funded by

43 Morehead St

23 Pyrmont Bridge Rd Sydney Fish Market (By Request)

8:50am

10:35am

12:40pm

2:20pm

STA Bus Stop

22 Smail St

41

Broadway Shops

21

40 O'Dea Ave

STA Bus Stops

20 Parramatta Rd

Bay St

Opp. 7 Eleven

19 Missenden Rd

STA Chris O'brien Lifehouse

Missenden Rd

18

Carrillon Rd

17

8:35am

10:20am

12:25pm

42 Phillip St

STA Bus Stops

16 King St

STA Opp. Town Hall

15

STA Bus Stop

37 Epsom Rd

Green Square Railway

36 Botany Rd

STA Bus Stop (opp Alexandria Park)

35 Wydnham St

Driveway no. 164 Opp Kingsclear Rd

34 Henderson Rd

STA Bus Stop Erskineville Park

Swanson St

13

STA Opp St Marys Church

33 Swanson St

Henderson Rd

12

Garden St

11

STA Bus Stops

8:20am

10:05am

12:10pm

3:05pm

STA Bus stop Opp. Kennards Storage
Near Reach Sydney Church

Erskineville Public School
Alexandria Town Hall

1:20pm

Joynton Park Opp. Martin Property

38 Joynton Ave

14 Swanson St

Erskineville Rd

11:20am

Aldi & Danks St Shops

39 Gadigal Ave

2:05pm

RPA Medical Centre

9:35am

Poets Corner Shops
STA Bus stop crnr Young St

Bourke St

9:20am

11:05am

1:05pm

2:50pm

32 Erskineville Rd STA Bus Stop crnr Charles St

1:50pm

31

Alexandria Park

10 Wydnham St

30 Brown St

STA Bus Stop Crnr McEvoy St

Botany Rd

9

29 King St

STA Green Square Railway

Botany Rd

8

28 Carrillon Rd

STA Bus Crner Dunning Ave

Epsom Rd

7

27 Missenden Rd

Green Square Library

Joynton Ave

6

Gadigal Ave

5

O'Dea Ave

4

Phillip St

3

Phillip St

2

Poets Corner Shops

Morehead St

1

Bus Stop Description

Street

Joynton Park Opp. Martin Property

Erskineville Rd Post Zone Outside Town Hall
Newtown Library
STA Bus Stops

26 Missenden Rd

STA Bus Stops

RPA Medical Centre

9:05am

10:50am

12:50pm

2:35pm

STA RPA Main Hospital
STA St John's College

25 Parramatta Rd STA Bus Stops

Crnr Baptist St - Aldi

24 Smail St

Crnr of Young St

8:00am
Trip 1

9:45am
Trip 2

11:50am
Trip 3

STA Bus Stop

Street

1:30pm
Trip 4

Bus Stop Description

8:50am
Trip 1

10:35am
Trip 2

12:40pm
Trip 3

2:20pm
Trip 4

Return to Redfern

Outward to Broadway

Updated April 2017
7
37
38
8

5/39

www.villagetovillage.com.au

36
6

8241 8000

40
9

4

Operates Thursdays and Fridays only

13

14
15

10
35

33
32
31
12

11
41

42
34
2
16

30
1/43
29

3

Redfern to Broadway
via Alexandria

Free Shuttle Bus

17/28
18
27
19

26
20/25
21
22/24

Free Shuttle Bus

Your guide to getting to
Zetland Mosque
Bus

Route 304 is available from to and from City Circular
Key and Roseberry, stopping on Bourke Street near
Powell St and on O’Dea Avenue and is only a short walk
to the mosque.
Route 343 runs from north Sydney and East Gardens
and stops directly across the street from the mosque
on Elizabeth Street. Route 370 runs from Leichhardt via
Newtown and from Coogee via Randwick stopping at
Green Square Station, and is only a short walk to the
mosque.
For more information, visit www.transportnsw.info or
call 131 500.

Train

Green Square Station (T8 services) is accessed via
O’Riordan St or Botany Road and is a 10-minute walk
to the mosque. The station is wheelchair accessible.
Please see map overleaf to view the Sydney Train
Network.
For more information, visit www.transportnsw.info or
call 131 500.

Walking

It is possible to walk to the mosque from Sydney City,
directly down Elizabeth Street. The walk is mostly flat,
however distances and personal safety should be taken
into account when planning your journey.

Cycling

Bicycle racks are provided in the mosque parking area.
Please see map overleaf which includes suggested
cycling routes. City to Green Square cycling route
is now complete. The 2.4km separated cycleway
links Zetland, Waterloo, Alexandria and Redfern with
central. A copy of the Sydney Cycleways map can be
downloaded at: www.sydneycycleways.net/map/

Taxi

A taxi rank is located at Green Square Station. Taxi’s
also frequent Bourke street on a regular basis.
Bookings are recommended. For bookings, including
wheelchair accessible taxi’s, call Taxi’s Combined on
133 300.

Parking

Parking is available at the rear of the Mosque, accessed
via Navins Lane and exited onto Bourke Street. The
parking area includes Disabled parking and bicycle
parking.

Community Transport

The Village 2 Village is a free bus service, operating on
Thursdays and Fridays between Redfern, Camperdown
and Glebe. The bus stops at Green Square Station and
on Elizabeth Street rear Bourke Street.
For more information call 02 8241 8000 or visit www.
villagetovilliagesydney.wordpress.com
There are many ways to conveniently and quickly
access Zetland Mosque. Pedestrian access is
provided from Elizabeth Street, with a passenger
pick up and set down areas available in Navins
lane and in the parking area. Please note that the
Elizabeth and Bourke Street frontages are No
Stopping Zones, please avoid use of this area.
Should there be any changes to travel and parking
options for special events, notification will be
provided via our website, www.gopray.com.au/
place/zetland-mosque/ please also consult this
website for prayer times and event information, to
properly plan your transportation.

Due to the limited availability of parking,
Zetland Mosque supports public transport use.
Get your daily physical activity as part of your
journey.

151

TRANSPORT
ACCESS
GUIDE
932-934 BOURKE STREET, ZETLAND

ST

R

ST

FO

UN

ET

TA

Buses

Cycling

KEY

IN

ST
LAND
K
BUC LAND
K
BUC



 )




T

Trains

Taxis

ANDRIA

EE

T

ST

RE

T

AD

RO

ET

RE

EE

D

HE N D E RS O N

ROA

AVE

BUS
ROUTE
370

POW

VOY

Seperate off road cycleway
Low traffic street or bike lane
Off-road shared path
Direct route with higher traffic
Routes with way finding signage

MCE

ER




LA EET
STR

D

CO

LL

IN

S

E

ST

RES

WELLI

ROA

RE

ET

D

J O H NS O N

ERV

E
STR
EET

ET

T

ALLEN

STRE

JOHN

NGTON

BEACONSFIELD

Walk from train station to Mosque

Train station

Taxi rank




Route 370 stop and direction
Route 304 stop and direction
Route 343 stop and direction
Free Community Transport Bus Route

M

RIO

O'

ST

G

UR

KE

L

IB

AN
D

N

RD
A

LA
STR NE
EET

ST

U
10

M

C R E S SY

HANSARD

ST

GREEN SQUARE

BO

E LK
R K IN WA

ST

STREET

MCEVO

B
V
NA

EPSOM

ST

INS

E

LAN

E
RK

SH ORT ST

OU

BUS

STREROUTE
E343
T

STREET

PO WEL L




KELLICK

ST R E E T

AVENUE

Y ST

A

4
WO

00m

LSE

60

LEY

AVENUE

0m

HUT

CHI

SON

GV

ROA

D




ZETLAND

WK

BUS
ROUTE
303

LACHLAN
ST

POTTER

ZETLAND MOSQUE

O'DE

200m

ST

ET

STREET

E
TR

STREET

WATERLOO

DANKS

STREET

B

OU
R

KE
ST

CRYSTA L

R AG L A N

NY

ETH
ELIZAB

ST

CRESCEN

AVEN UE

E ST

EVELEIGH

LANE

BO

T
ST
R

EE
ST

LANE

ING

R

KE

KU

BA

N
WI

MI

R

A
RR

R
CA

AM

A
NY

ST

T
LEN

ST

HA

LL












D A CE Y

ST

T STREET

IA

BOTA

ROAD
LANE

N

PITT
ING

152

ST

A

H

IN

VENU
E

ET

G
VIR

NUE

M

G

ST

L
AL

DUNN

ST
R
E
E
T
BEAMON
T

T
NTO

D

OU

JOY

D

MOREHEA

H U NTE R
ST
Y
O
UN
G

S
UE

UTOR
D
MC

SPRIN
G ST

N
EE
AVE
N

ND

B

DE
STA

ET

OW

S

E
TR

GRA
ND

T

S

E
TR
ET
T

ST
R
ST

VIC

RE E
R ST
PDE

IPS

DHA
ARK

RD

ST

NY
STRE
ORI
AP

WYN

ROA
PDE

L
PHIL

ST

T
ET

Y
LRO

RO

AD

E

LI

GERA

BOTA
DEFRIES

AV

NK

ST

T
STRE

ET

MI

E

AD

EN
E
STRE
ST
ST
B
IZA

N
MA

NU

RO

D
GAR
PITT

EL

D

DOWLING

COPE
BROOM

ANDE
R

STREE

STREET

COOPE

E

EASTERN

GEORG

DISTRIB

AM
NDH
WEST

TO

E
AV

ST

Australian Federation of Islamic Councils
932-934 Bourke Street Zetland NSW

APPENDIX D
LETTER OF SUPPORT FROM LOCAL POLICE
COMMAND

Page153
90

154

155

